From INSTITUTE OF ENVIRONMENTAL MEDICINE (IMM) Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

ENGINEERED NANOMATERIALS FOR BIOMEDICAL APPLICATIONS

Neus Feliu Torres



Stockholm 2014

All previously published papers were reproduced with permission from the publisher.

Cover: Confocal microscopy image of PBECs exposed to FITC labelled PAMAM-NH₂. Published by Karolinska Institutet. Printed by Universitetsservice US-AB

© Neus Feliu Torres, 2014 ISBN 978-91-7549-476-0

To my family and friends

"No estimo res com la dolcesa del cel blau del meu país; ara en sóc lluny, però me'n recordo dia i nit"

"No hi ha res que no em recordi cada instant el meu país, tot em fa pensar en els dies que hi vaig viure tan felic"

El meu país, de Miquel Martí Pol, poeta català

ABSTRACT

Engineered nanomaterials (ENM) have emerged as attractive and promising candidates for a wide range of advanced applications including in particular in medicine. However, the increased development of ENM raises the need to carefully assess their potential impact on human health and environment. For that, detailed evaluation of the intrinsic and biological identity of ENM is required for the safe design and use of these materials. To this effect, the present thesis focuses on the synthesis and biocompatibility assessment of two different classes of nanomaterials, dendrimers and superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles (SPIONs), promising future nanomedicines for drug delivery and imaging agents in magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). Assessment was performed on primary human monocyte derived macrophages (HMDM), primary human bronchial epithelial cells (PBEC), and cell lines. Hereby an insight on the impact of these materials on the immune system and on their promising and potential use as nanomedicines has been obtained. Furthermore, we attempted to use systems biology approaches as a novel tool to identify possible hazard of ENM by using next generation sequencing RNA-Seq and computational tools. Finally, we assessed the bio-nano-interactions by evaluating the effect of the protein corona on the targeting capabilities of ENM and their behaviour. Importantly, the ENM were extensively characterized, using different techniques prior to the toxicity studies. In Paper I, we evaluated the biocompatibility of a library of polyester dendrimers based on 2,2-bis(methylol)propionic acid (bis-MPA) including dendrimers with two different surface functionalization, hydroxyl and carboxylic end groups, and two commercial polyamidoamine dendrimers (PAMAM) with amine and hydroxyl end groups. We found excellent biocompatibility for the entire hydroxyl functional bis-MPA dendrimer library, whereas the cationic, but not the neutral PAMAM exerted dose and time dependent cytotoxicity in the cell models tested. In paper II, using system biology approaches and bioinformatics tools, we were able to identify and validate the toxicity mechanism of PBEC exposed to PAMAMs dendrimers at low doses. Our studies showed that PAMAM-NH₂, but not PAMAM-OH, caused down-regulation of cell cycle-related genes and cell cycle arrest in Sphase. Our findings provide evidence of the beneficial use of these new toxicology tools for the future risk assessment of nanomaterials. SPIONs have emerged as promising nanomaterials for biomedical applications, due to their excellent magnetic properties, chemical stability and biocompatibility. In paper III, ultrasmall superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles (USIRONs) were prepared by a one-pot aqueous approach by using $Fe(OH)_3$ as iron precursor, vitamin C as reducing agent, and dehydroascorbic acid (DHAA) as capping agent. We showed that USIRONs present high crystallinity, long-term colloidal stability, enhanced saturation magnetization, and exhibit excellent biocompatibility as demonstrated in the toxicity evaluation using primary HMDM. When nanoparticles are in contact with physiological fluids, adsorption of proteins on the surface of the nanomaterial will occur, resulting in the establishment of a protein corona. Whether the protein corona will affect the targeting capabilities of the ENM was investigated. In paper IV, folic acid (FA)-conjugated iron oxide nanoparticles with poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG) or SiO₂ surface coatings were synthetized. We evaluated their biocompatibility and specific targeting effects on HMDM and on ovarian cancer cells, that over express the folic acid receptor. Notably, we demonstrated the nanoparticles (NPs) were nontoxic to cells and that FA specific uptake was observed only for the FA iron oxide SiO₂ coated NPs in the presence of serum proteins. Our studies contribute to the development of new nanomaterials and their applications, which may facilitate the clinical translation of the nanomedicines.

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following papers:

- I. <u>Feliu N</u>, Walter MV, Montañez MI, Kunzmann A, Hult A, Nyström A, Malkoch M, Fadeel B. Stability and biocompatibility of a library of polyester dendrimers in comparison to polymanidoamine dendrimers. Biomaterials 2012 33(7)1970-81.
- II. <u>Feliu N</u>, Kohonen P, Palmberg L, Nyström AM, and Fadeel B. Next generation sequencing reveals low-dose effects of dendrimers in primary human bronchial epithelial cells: a systems biology study. [manuscript submitted 2014].
- III. Xiao L, Li J, Brougham DF, Fox EK, <u>Feliu N</u>, Bushmelev A, Schmidt A, Mertens N, Kiessling F, Valldor M, Fadeel B, Mathur S. Water-soluble superparamagnetic magnetite nanoparticles with biocompatible coating for enhanced magnetic resonance imaging. ACS Nano. 2011 5(8) 6315-24.
- IV. Krais A, Wortmann L, Hermanns L, <u>Feliu N</u>, Vahter V, Stucky S, Mathur S, Fadeel B. Targeted uptake of folic acid-functionalized iron oxide nanoparticles by ovarian cancer cells in the presence but not in the absence of serum. Nanomedicine. 2014 Jan 31[Epub ahead of print].

Additional relevant publications not included in the thesis:

- I. <u>Feliu N</u>, Fadeel B. Nanotoxicology: no small matter. Nanoscale. 2010 2(12) 2514-20.
- II. Fadeel B, <u>Feliu N</u>, Vogt C, Abdelmonem AM, Parak WJ. Bridge over troubled waters: understanding the synthetic and biological identities of engineered nanomaterials. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Nanomed Nanobiotechnol. 2013 5(2) 111-29.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1	Introduction1		
	1.1 Nanomaterials		
		1.1.1 Biomedical applications of nanomaterials1	
		1.1.2 Dendrimers	
		1.1.3 Magnetic nanoparticles	
1.2	Nai	otoxicological assessment of nanomaterials7	
		1.2.1 Overview and immunotoxicity7	
		1.2.2 Role of physicochemical properties 10	
		1.2.3 Nano-bio interactions the protein corona	
		1.2.4 Systems biology and predictive toxicology15	
2	Aim of the thesis		
3	Materials and methods		
	3.1 Material synthesis		
		3.1.1 Dendrimers	
		3.1.2 Fluorescent labeling of dendrimers	
		3.1.3 Magnetic nanoparticles	
	3.2	Material characterization	
		3.2.1 Particle size and morphology	
		3.2.2 Surface area and charge	
		3.2.3 Chemical composition	
	3.3	Cell models	
	3.4	Cytotoxicity assessment	
	3.5	Cellular uptake of nanoparticles	
	3.6 Measurement of cytokines		
	3.7	siRNA transfection	
	3.8 Cell cycle analysis		
	3.9 "Omics" analyses		
	3.10	3.10 Assessment of bio-corona	
4	Results		
	4.1	Paper I: Stability and biocompatibility of a library of polyester	
		dendrimers in comparison to polyamidoamine dendrimers	
	4.2	Paper II: Next generation sequencing reveals low-dose effects	
		of dendrimers in primary human bronchial epithelial cells: a	
	systems biology study		
	4.3	Paper III: Water-soluble superparamagnetic magnetite	
		nanoparticles with biocompatible coating for enhanced	
		magnetic resonance imaging	
	4.4	Paper IV: Targeted uptake of folic acid-functionalized iron	
		oxide nanoparticles by ovarian cancer cells in the presence but	
	not in the absence of serum		

5 General discussion		eral discussion	37	
	5.1	Biocompatibiliy of nanomaterials: towards predictive toxicity		
		testing	37	
	5.2	Systems biology approaches for nanomedicine and nanosafety	39	
	5.3	The biological identity of nanomaterials and its biological		
		implications	41	
6	Conclusions			
7	Future perspectives			
8	Acknowledgements			
9	References			
Appendix: Paper I-IV65				

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AuNPs	gold nanoparticles
bis-MPA	2,2 bis(hydroxymethyl)propionic acid
BSAI	biological surface adsorption index
CMC	critical micelle concentration
СМ	Connectivity Map
СТ	computed tomography
DI	deionized
DOX	doxorubicin
EA	elemental analysis
EMA	European Medicines Agency
ENM	engineered nanomaterials
EPR	enhanced permeability and retention
ER	endoplasmic reticulum
DHAA	dehydroascorbic acid
DENPs	dendrimer-entrapped gold nanonarticles
FA	folic acid
FcRn	the neonatal Fc recentor
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
FR	folate recentor
FTID	Fourier transformed infrared spectroscopy
CO	gene entelogy
60	granhana avida
	bumon monocoute domined monophages
	high throughput corporing
	ingh throughput screening
	Interligent testing strategy
IPA	Ingenuity Pathway Analysis
LDH	lactate dehydrogenase
MALDI-TOF	matrix assisted desorption ionization time of flight
MNPs	magnetic nanoparticles
MPIO	micrometre size paramagnetic iron oxide
MRI	magnetic resonance imaging
NAC	N-acetyl-L-cysteine
NIR	near-infrared
NMR	nuclear magnetic resonance
NPs	nanoparticles
PAMAM	polyamidoamine
PBEC	primary bronchial epithelial cells
PET	positron emission tomography
PDI	polydispersity index
PPI	poly(propylene imine)
QSAR	quantitative structure-activity relationship
REOs	rare earth oxide
ROS	reactive oxygen species
RNA-Seq	
SPECT	RNA sequencing
	RNA sequencing single photon emission computed tomography
TEM	RNA sequencing single photon emission computed tomography transmission electron microscope
TEM TfR	RNA sequencing single photon emission computed tomography transmission electron microscope transferrin receptor
TEM TfR TGA	RNA sequencing single photon emission computed tomography transmission electron microscope transferrin receptor thermogravimetric analysis
TEM TfR TGA TNFα	RNA sequencing single photon emission computed tomography transmission electron microscope transferrin receptor thermogravimetric analysis tumor necrosis factor-alpha
TEM TfR TGA TNFα rGO	RNA sequencing single photon emission computed tomography transmission electron microscope transferrin receptor thermogravimetric analysis tumor necrosis factor-alpha reduced graphene oxide
TEM TfR TGA TNFα rGO SPIONs	RNA sequencing single photon emission computed tomography transmission electron microscope transferrin receptor thermogravimetric analysis tumor necrosis factor-alpha reduced graphene oxide superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles
TEM TfR TGA TNFα rGO SPIONs USIRONS	RNA sequencing single photon emission computed tomography transmission electron microscope transferrin receptor thermogravimetric analysis tumor necrosis factor-alpha reduced graphene oxide superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles ultrasmall superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles
TEM TfR TGA TNFα rGO SPIONs USIRONs UV-Vis	RNA sequencing single photon emission computed tomography transmission electron microscope transferrin receptor thermogravimetric analysis tumor necrosis factor-alpha reduced graphene oxide superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles ultrasmall superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles ultraviolet-visible spectroscopy
TEM TfR TGA TNFα rGO SPIONs USIRONs UV-Vis XRD	RNA sequencing single photon emission computed tomography transmission electron microscope transferrin receptor thermogravimetric analysis tumor necrosis factor-alpha reduced graphene oxide superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles ultrasmall superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles ultraviolet-visible spectroscopy X-ray powder diffraction

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 NANOMATERIALS

1.1.1 Biomedical applications of nanomaterials

Nanotechnology is a rapidly growing discipline that offers a wide range of applications. Their novel physicochemical properties make nanomaterials highly attractive and promising for medical development,¹ with potential benefits for treating and diagnosing cancer. Some of these materials already have reached the clinic.^{2,3} However, their promising characteristics may also yield unexpected adverse effects on human health and the environment⁴. Therefore, careful toxicity evaluation is needed in order to provide knowledge for the safe design of these materials for such applications.

The unique chemical and physical properties of engineered nanomaterials are attributed to their small size that gives rise to significantly different properties from conventional materials on the microscale level.⁵ These properties, such as narrow size distribution, composition, surface structure, shape, aggregation, and solubility, influence the mechanical, electrical, optical, and magnetic properties, as well as the chemical reactivity of these materials.^{6,7} These distinct properties make ENM offer a wide range of opportunities and applications, covering both the engineering and biomedical sectors. Our curiosity is focused on the extraordinary potential that the utilization of ENM offers in improving clinical diagnosis and in various branches of biomedical research.

The field of nanomedicine encompasses the applicability of nanotechnology to medicine, with the goal to design multifunctional nanoparticles with desirable properties for medical applications, including diagnostics, imaging, drug delivery, and other health- associated applications.⁸ Nanomedicines are generally based on multifunctional particles that can encapsulate active therapeutics within their nanoscale framework, and which are capable to release the therapeutic payload in a specific manner. Most often, such constructs increase the bioavailability of the drug and can be used to control the pharmacokinetics and biodistribution of the active compound. Liposomes, protein particles, and polymer-drug conjugates are examples of approved therapeutic nanomedicines used in clinics. Furthermore, nanoscale contrast agents are also used in clinical radiology, such as SPIONs and dendrimers that are used to enhance resolution in magnetic resonance imaging.^{2, 9, 10}.

Nanotechnology is expected to make an important contribution to cancer prevention, detection, diagnosis, imaging, and treatment (*cf.* Figure 1). Today all conventional cytotoxic therapies are not completely effective.¹¹ Large proportions of new emerging drug candidates are only poorly water-soluble such as docetaxel (Taxotere), which is commonly used for the treatment of breast and lung cancer. Therefore, the development of drug nanocarriers for poorly soluble pharmaceuticals is an important task.¹² Theragnostics is the treatment approach that combines therapeutic delivery systems

with diagnostics (imaging), with the aim to monitor the treatment and to improve drug efficacy and safety,¹³ developing both prognosis and therapy.¹⁴ Nanomaterials are particular relevant for cancer treatment, which may offer advantage over traditional therapies by providing higher efficacy and lower toxicity of treatment.

Nanomedicines that exhibit extended circulation time may accumulate passively into tumor tissue. This process is known as enhanced permeability and retention (EPR) effect.^{15,16} It refers to the propensity to nano-and micro- size therapeutic agents to accumulate in tumor tissue, providing significant advantages compared with low molecular weight agents¹⁷. However, for a successful delivery of nanomedicines, several factors should be taking consideration: i) the influence of the EPR effect as previously mentioned, ii) the permeability of the tumor vasculature, iii) the blood flow to the tumor, iv) the intratumoral pressure, and v) the nature of the barrier between the tumor cells and the extracellular matrix.¹⁵

In recent years, there has been an increase in the different imaging technologies and their applications.^{18, 19} Molecular imaging offers the opportunity to obtain information on cellular function and molecular processes in living organisms by both in vitro and in vivo systems, with high sensitivity and specificity. Examples of molecular imaging systems include computed tomography (CT) imaging, optical imaging, magnetic resonance (MR) imaging, single photon emission computed tomography (SPECT), and position emission tomography (PET). Notably, among the different techniques, CT and MRI provide higher resolution than the other modalities. Moreover, molecular imaging techniques can be used in diagnoses of diseases such as cancer, by enabling to visualize tumours in the body.²⁰ Current advances in nanotechnology offer to use engineered nanomaterials as molecular imaging agents. Due to their possibility to be designed with multifunctionality, which permits different imaging modalities,²¹ and to perform target diagnosis and therapeutics, several nanomaterials have been studied for cancer treatment²² including polymers, dendrimers, liposomes, micelles, magnetic nanoparticles, etc.²³ A detailed description of the materials used in this thesis and their biomedical applications is given in the following.



Figure 1. The application of nanotechnology in medicine. The image is reproduced from Fadeel et al.²⁴ with permission from Journal of Internal Medicine.

1.1.2 Dendrimers

Dendrimers are highly branched and monodisperse macromolecules with exact structure, placement of functionally and dimensions, whose name comes from the Greek word "*Dendros*" meaning tree and "meros" meaning part. In 1978, when Vögtle²⁵ *et al.* described the first synthesis of dendritic materials based on polypropylene-amine structure. A few years later, in 1985, two parallel studies published by Tomalia *et al.*²⁶ and Newkome *et al.*²⁷, pioneers of dendrimer technology, described, polyamidoamine (PAMAM) dendrimers and poly(etheramide) structures, respectively. In 1990, a new type of dendrimer based on the convergent method was presented by Hawker and Frechét, the poly(benzylether) dendrimer.²⁸ Today, the dendritic family can be divided into sub-groups based on their disperse frameworks, *i.e.* monodisperse dendrimers and dendrons, and polydisperse dendrigraft, hyperbranched polymers, and dendritic linear hybrids²⁹ (*cf.* Figure 2).

Divergent and convergent growths are two conventional approaches used in the synthesis of dendritic structures. In essence the divergent method grows the structure from the interior outwards, and in the convergent method the structure is grown from the exterior inwards.³⁰ Several more optimized methods for dendrimer synthesis have since then been evolved, including the orthogonal growth, double exponential growth, and double stage convergent growth strategies.²⁹

Today several dendrimers have reached the market, including PAMAM (Dendritech), which is composed of a diamine core linked with methyl acrylate, poly(propylene imine) (PPI) (Symo-Chem BV), and 2,2 bis(hydroxymethyl)propionic acid (bis-MPA) dendrimers (Polymer Factory).



Figure 2. Schematic picture of sub-classes in the dendritic family. The image is reproduced from Carlmark *et al.*³⁰ with permission of The Royal Society of Chemistry.

For therapeutic applications, dendrimers offer advantages over other classes of nanomaterials. Unlike traditional polymers, dendrimers are monodisperse, which is a crucial property to ensure the reproducibility of the PK and BioD studies³¹. They present broad design possibilities with high control of size, shape, solubility, molecular weight, and specific control of the exact position of functional groups.³² In addition, dendrimers with sufficient hydrophilicity, unlike polymer micelles and liposomes, do not have a critical micelle concentration (CMC). Therefore, dendrimers cannot disintegrate upon dilution. All these features clearly distinguishes these structures as unique carriers in therapeutic applications.³³

Dendrimers have often been referred to as equivalents of "proteins" due to their size, globular structure, and exact molecular weight.³⁴ Despite the similarities between dendrimers and globular proteins, dendrimers have rigid structures as determined by covalent bonds, and represent a 3D structure with interior core and an exterior with controlled surface functionality.

The polyester dendrimers based on the bis-MPA scaffold were originally described by Ihre *et al.*³⁵ and are considered promising materials for biomedical applications³⁰, due to their hydrolytically degradable structure and good biocompatibility.^{36, 37} Indeed, the group of Fréchet et al. have investigated the use of polyester dendrimers for therapeutic applications in several publications, such us efficient drug delivery carriers of doxorubicin (DOX) in vivo³⁸ and dendrimers for targeted positron emission tomography (PET).³⁹⁻⁴¹ Our recent studies further demonstrated their biocompatibility in both, primary human derived macrophages (HMDM) and cancer cell lines.³⁷ Furthermore, Wu et al. explored the formation and the cytotoxicity of chemotherapeutic delivery vehicles constructed from four different amphiphilic lineardendritic hybrid block copolymers in primary human macrophages on breast cancer cells. Overall, the study showed that micelles in the size range of 100 nm had a loading efficiency of (DOX) up to 22%. The resulting carriers were evaluated as passive drug delivery vehicles and the results demonstrated that they exhibit superior drug efficacy and a higher apoptosis inducing capacity as compared to free DOX.⁴² These results further confirm the promising use of these materials as drug delivery agents. To date, the FDA has not yet approved any dendritic carrier for drug delivery applications.⁴³

PAMAM dendrimers are one of the most studied dendrimer structures. The surface of PAMAMs can be modified with different functional groups that allow them to be explored in a multitude of biomedical applications including; i) drug delivery systems (DDS), ii) transfection systems (Suprafect), and iii) contrast agents for PET, MRI, and CT. PAMAMs are non-degradable materials and typically present amine groups on the surface. Cationic PAMAM dendrimers have been associated with higher cytotoxic response than non-anionic, small cationic or neutral dendrimers.⁴⁴ In order to use PAMAMS as nanomedicine, further surface functionalization is required to achieve superior biocompatibility. PAMAMs have been used i) as templates or stabilizers for preparation of inorganic nanomaterials,⁴⁵ ii) to encapsulate or conjugate a wide range

of drugs, such as paclitaxel,^{46,47} methotrexate⁴⁷ among others, and iii) for targeted drug delivery. For instance, intravenously injected N-acetyl-L-cysteine (NAC) conjugated polyamidoamine dendrimers were able to effectively accumulate in activated microglia and astrocytes in the brain of young rabbits with cerebral palsy. The drug delivery vehicle suppressed neuroinflammation and improved their motor function as compared with the free-drug or PAMAM alone.⁴⁸ Dendrimer-based contrast agents for MRI have remarkable potential due to their flexible nature and high relaxivity properties.⁴⁹ Dendrimers provide advantages compared to gadolinium chelated agents due to their; i) superior r_1 relaxivity values⁵⁰ and ii) tunable kinetics (archived by specific chemistry)⁵¹. Some examples illustrating these features have been reported. For instance Peng et al. showed that G5-PAMAM dendrimer-entrapped gold nanoparticles (DENPs) can be used for tumor imaging by CT contrast agents. ⁵² Li et al. synthesized multifunctional Gd-Au DENPs that were effectively used for dual-mode MR/CT imaging of tumors.⁵³ At present, no targeted contrast agent is available for clinical MRI. Wi et al. synthesized a new CLT1 targeting contrast agent based on a stable macrocyclic Gd(III) chelate, Gd-DOTA. The CLT1 targeted contrast agent CLT1-dL-(Gd-DOTA)4 linked via a generation 1 lysine dendrimer presented high specificity for a prostate tumor model and effective MR imaging in vivo.⁵⁴ However, further studies are required to develop multifunctional nanoparticles for molecular imaging of different types of cancer.

1.1.3 Magnetic nanoparticles

Magnetic nanoparticles (MNPs) are a class of engineered nanomaterials that can be manipulated by external magnetic fields and are considered as one of the most important classes of nanomaterials today due to their unique physical properties⁵⁵. MNPs are commonly composed from magnetic elements such as iron, nickel, cobalt, or metal oxides. Indeed, superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles (SPIONs) have emerged as one of the key nanomaterials for biomedical applications, with a potential to create future medicines such as cancer theranostics. This is due to their excellent magnetic properties, high chemical stability, excellent colloidal stability, and good biocompatibility.⁵⁶ Altogether, SPIONs are potential candidates for improving contrast enhancement in magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), hyperthermia⁵⁷, molecular detection and drug delivery.⁵⁸

Iron oxide NPs are being used in clinical trials as contrast agents in magnetic resonance imaging (MRI),⁵⁹ a powerful tool for non-invasive and non-destructive diagnostic applications in various clinical and biomedical settings. Briefly, imaging contrast of MR is based on the different relaxation times of water protons in tissue. To achieve superior images, contrast agents are used to induce changes in the relaxation time.⁶⁰ SPIONS are known as T₂ (transversal relaxation time) agents (negative contrasts agents) and paramagnetic agents such as gadolinium and manganese chelates are considered T₁ (longitudinal relaxation time) agents (positive contrast agents). Indeed, most of the paramagnetic contrast agents are based on gadolinium ions Gd³⁺, which accelerate proton relaxation, and which are often employed to reveal physiological and pathological structural details of tissues. Their efficacy will depend on the values of the

 r_{1} - and r_{2} -relaxivities of these chelates and their pharmacokinetics.⁶¹ Besides Gd³⁺assisted ¹H MRI techniques, contrast agents based on ¹⁹F-NMR agents⁶² are emerging as attractive candidates due to the high sensitivity of the ¹⁹F, low background signal, extraordinary gyromagnetic ratio, good biocompatibility, and high natural abundance.⁶³⁻⁶⁵ However, in this section emphasis is given on SPIONs, as they represent part of the materials evaluated in this thesis.

Several methods for the synthesis of magnetic nanoparticles have been proposed. SPIONs are based on an iron oxide core and are coated by either inorganic materials such as gold or silica or organic materials such as polymers, phospholipids, or polysaccharides.⁶⁶ The two major iron oxide phases used are mainly composed by magnetite (Fe₃O₄) and maghemite (γ -Fe₃O₄) and are often synthetized in sizes smaller than 5-20 nm (the ultra small yes, but those are not clinically approved). In these sizes, smaller than the single domain limit, iron oxide NPs exhibit superparamagnetic behaviour at room temperature.⁵⁵ Therefore, in absence of an electromagnetic field, the overall magnetic moment will be zero.⁶⁷

Different methods are applied to synthetize iron oxide nanoparticles. Among them, the most commonly used approaches include i) co-precipitation;⁶⁸ that allows for the preparation of large quantities of nanoparticles in one single batch, ii) sol-gel synthesis,⁶⁹ iii) thermal decomposition of precursors, iv) hydrothermal reactions,⁷⁰ *etc.* Additionally, a wide range of strategies has been proposed to functionalize MNPs for their adequate biomedical applications. ⁷¹ Furthermore, targeting ligands, such as peptides, monoclonal antibodies, coupled to the polymer surface of SPIONs, allow the nanoparticles to recognize specific tissue signatures and to act as drug-delivery system.⁷² As a result of their final size, MPNs can be classified as a: i) micrometre size paramagnetic iron oxide (MPIO), ii) superparamagnetic iron oxide, SPIO particles with diameter \geq 50 nm, and iii) ultrasmall superparamagnetic iron oxide, USPIO with smaller diameters.⁷³

To date, several classes of SPIONs have been developed. The medical use of magnetic iron oxide nanoparticles has been approved by the European Medicines Agency (EMA), and the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA).⁷⁴ Hofmann-Amtenbrinka *et al.* review examples of commercial iron oxide NPs used as contrast agents. This includes Lumiren® (\geq 300 nm (+ agent)) and Gastromark® (ferumoxsil) for bowel imaging, Endorem© and Feridex IV© used as a spleen and liver imaging agents, USPIO such as Sinerem© (40 nm (- agent)) and Supravist© (25nm), and SPIONs like Resovist© (100-200 nm) (- agent)⁶⁶. However, some of them have been currently removed from the market.²

The current research of SPIONs mainly involves *in vivo* drug delivery, MRI, and hyperthermia.⁷³ The final applicability of the MNPs in biological systems mainly depends on their plasma half-life, their final biodistribution, and their possible side effects. Moreover, it is still not well understood which are the parameters responsible for preventing or allowing the carriers to reach the specific target. One possible explanation could be the different biological identity formation (protein corona) of

nanoparticles when they are in contact with biological fluids. Further studies are required to address this important question. However, several ligands have been coupled to nanoparticles for enhancing drug delivery efficiency. Tietzer *et al.* synthetized a novel magnetic chemotherapeutic carrier-system with a size < 200 nm, that targets mitoxantrone efficiently in tumours *in vivo* and efficiently treated those tumours implanted in the limbs of rabbit, leading to complete tumour remissions.⁷⁵

Targeted therapy with MRI nanoparticles provides a suitable tool for local energy deposition and heating of cancer cells.²

Despite the fact that the FDA and EMA have already approved MNs as MRI contrast agents, the intrinsic proprieties of this material that determine the optimal factors required for biomedical applications are still not sufficiently well understood.⁵⁵ For the safety evaluation of these nanomaterials, cytotoxicity end points need to be considered. This includes cellular uptake, final fate of nanoparticles, and mechanism of action and biodegradation of the nanomaterial. More details on the design of safe nanomaterials will be discussed in the following section.

1.2 NANOTOXICOLOGICAL ASSESSMENT OF NANOMATERIALS

1.2.1 Overview and immunotoxicity

Nanomaterials offer a great potential for a wide range of medical applications. However, there is the concern that human exposure of nanoparticles could lead to significant adverse biological outcomes in health and environment. ² Nanotoxicology is emerging as a scientific discipline attempting to investigate the interactions of engineered nanomaterials with biological system at the nanoscale level by providing knowledge on the safety assessment of nanomaterials.³ Oberdörster *et al.* identified essential factors in nanotoxicology that need to be addressed for the safety assessment and future development of nanotechnologies. This includes dose metrics, exposure routes, and biodistribution of nanomaterials. Remarkably, he emphasized the importance of nanoparticles with well-defined physicochemical properties, and the validation of the conventional *in vitro* assays employed.⁷⁶

Understanding the interactions of nanomaterials with relevant biological systems is a critical factor in the safe and sustainable development of nanotechnology for biomedical use.⁷⁷ Indeed nanomaterials may be distributed in the body *via* the lymphatic system where immunological reaction can occur. The primary focus of the immune systems is to protect against foreign materials, including particles. Therefore, is important to investigate the nano-immuno interactions, especially for nanoparticles that are intended to administration into systemic circulation as it is well known that particles in the blood are rapidly cleared by cells of the reticuloendothelial system in the liver and spleen.⁷⁸ Notably, the use of *in vitro* tests involving primary cells is of particular relevance, as these model systems are closer to the *in vivo* situation.⁷⁹ Exposure of nanomaterials may induce immunotoxicity resulting in harmful effects to the immune system. Notably, macrophages are key players in the innate immune response, as these cells are capable of phagocytosing micro- and nano-particles. The

recognition of the nanoparticles by the immune cells may play an important role. Based on the intrinsic properties of nanomaterial, the nano-immuno interactions can be controlled.⁸⁰ Some examples are illustrated (*cf.* Figure 3).

As summarized by Kunzman *et al.* nanoparticles can be modulated for desired applications; i) functionalization of USPIONs with PEG may reduce uptake by macrophages leading to increase circulation time and ii) functionalization of SPIONs with ligands that are recognized by immune cells may enhance the uptake in cells.⁷⁹ Bhattacharjee *et al.* showed the effect of surface charge and cellular uptake. Demonstrating that negatively charged silicon nanoparticles increased the phagocytosis of silicon nanoparticles by rat alveolar macrophages while positively charged and neutral nanoparticles reduced the phagocytic ability of macrophage.⁸¹

Importantly, Jones *et al.* recently, showed that the rate of nanoparticle clearance depends on the global status of the immune system. The study highlighted the importance of choosing appropriate *in vivo* models for pre-clinical evaluation of nanomedicines.⁸²



Figure 3. The effect of the intrinsic properties of nanoparticles on immunogenicity. The image is reproduced from Elsabahy *et al.* ⁸³ with permission of The Royal Society of Chemistry.

Understanding the process of clearance is a key to controlling the biodistribution of nanoparticles for medical imaging and drug delivery applications, and may also be relevant to the understanding of adverse effects of engineered nanomaterials. Importantly, nanomaterials could lead to indirect "secondary" effects. For that reasons evaluations of nanoparticle safety should consider both, direct and indirect effects, in order to avoid any potential risk to targets on the distal side of cellular barriers.⁸⁴ Sood and co-workers demonstrated that nanoparticles can cause indirect DNA damage *in vitro* across trophoblast and corneal barriers, and cause cytokine and chemokine release across corneal barrier. This indirect effect depends on the thickness of the cellular barrier through a pathway that involves gap junctions.⁸⁵ Serag *et al.* demonstrated that the traffic of single wall carbon nanotubes (SWCNTs) into different cell subcellular structures can be facilitated or inhibited by attaching a specific functional tag and by controlling medium components.⁸⁶

Most of the nanotoxicology studies are based on understanding the acute response of nanomaterial exposure. However, the impact of chronic exposure of nanoparticles on human health is an important factor that should be taken in consideration. Recently, Mahler and co-workers showed the effects of oral exposure of polystyrene nanoparticles on the absorption of iron by using an *in vitro* model of the intestinal epithelium as well as an *in vivo* chicken intestinal loop model, demonstrating that acute exposure can disturb iron transport.⁶¹ Recently it has been shown that acute zebrafish embryonic exposure of nanoparticles could be used as a model to predict potential long term effects. Troung *et al.* exposed 1.5 nm gold nanoparticles (AuNPs) with different surface functionalization; negatively charged 2-mercaptoethanesulfonic acid and positively charged trimethylammoniumethanethiol (TMAT) and neutral 2-(2-(2-mercaptoethoxy)ethoxy) ethanol (MEEE) to embryos showing that acute exposure of MES- and TMAT–AuNPs during embryonic development results in larval behavioral abnormalities that persist into adulthood and that was driven by the different surface functionalized gold nanoparticles.⁸⁷

In order to understand mechanism of the molecular pathogenesis in the mouse spleen caused by TiO₂ NPs, Sang et al. exposed mice to 2.5, 5, 10 mg kg body weight of TiO₂ NPs for 90 days and investigated the inflammatory and immunological responses and apoptosis in the mouse spleen. They found that following exposure for 90 consecutive days disrupted the immunological function and toxicity in the spleen of mice, concluding that long-term exposure to low dose of TiO₂ NPs could cause chronic splenic injury in mice.⁸⁸ In addition, in a recent *in vivo* study, Sun and coworkers investigated the mechanism by which TiO₂ NPs activates, Nrf2, in the mouse lung by exposing mice to 10 mg/kg body weight of TiO₂ nanoparticles for 15–90 days. They founded that TiO₂ NPs accumulated and increased the reactive oxygen species (ROS) production in lung provoking severe pulmonary edema, inflammatory response and pneumonocyte apoptosis.⁸⁹ Cui *et al*, evaluated the gene expression profile in the livers of mice exposed to 10 mg/kg body weight TiO₂ NPs for 90 days. Their results showed that titanium accumulated in the liver, and liver damage caused by long-term exposure to TiO₂ NPs may be associated with significant changes in the expression of genes

involved in immune and inflammatory responses, apoptosis, oxidative stress, and the metabolism process, and in particular, a reduction in complement factor expression.⁹⁰

Understanding which of physicochemical properties of engineered nanomaterials leads to cytotoxicity remains a challenge, as these parameters are interconnected. ⁹¹ Therefore, there is a need to develop new approaches to further evaluate the interactions and toxicology effects of nanomaterials with relevant biological systems. The following section will discuss the impact of physicochemical properties of the nanomaterials on their cytotoxicity.

1.2.2 Role of the physicochemical properties

Understanding which of the physicochemical properties of engineered nanomaterials determines their toxic response, uptake, and biodistribution in living organisms is not straightforward and still needs to be improved.⁹² Numerous studies have attempted to address this issue. Nevertheless, a brief overview on how the intrinsic physicochemical properties of nanomaterials affect cytotoxicity and how they can be tuned to control toxicity, uptake, and fate, are discussed in the following. The physicochemical properties of nanomaterials include size, shape, surface chemistry, rigidity, colloidal stability.⁹³

Size represents an important parameter to be considered from a toxicology point of view, as in case the size of nanoparticle decreases their surface area to volume ratio increases and will determine the number of surface groups present on the surface of the material and its reactivity.⁹⁴ In general, for smaller nanomaterials a higher toxic response is observed.⁶ The role of size in particle uptake has been previously discussed. It has been suggested that for higher intracellular doses of nanoparticles a higher toxic response is observed.⁹² Furthermore, there are several *in vitro* studies showing size dependent uptake. For instance, Zhu et al. described size-dependent cellular uptake efficiency of silica NPs in HeLa cells.⁹⁵ In addition, there are reports in the literature describing the effect of nanoparticle shape, and how this physicochemical parameter, can influence particle uptake and its mechanism. As well as size this feature affects the uptake of nanoparticles and biodistribution.⁹⁶ In a recent study, Gliga *et al.* showed size-dependent cytotoxicity of AgNPs in human lung epithelial cells. However, in this study, the results indicated that intracellular metal release rather than differences in cellular uptake or intracellular localization was a probable explanation for the perceived differences in cytotoxicity.⁹⁷

Shape Awargal *el al.* evaluated the influence of shape and size of different polyethylene glycol diacrylate based hydrogel nanoparticles. They found that uptake was depending on the geometry of the particle and the cell model used. Based on the *in vitro* results, they hypothesized that intracellular uptake of NPs depends on three main factors, the sedimentation effect, directed by the weight of the NPs, the forces between the NP surface and cell membranes and the cell membrane strain energy necessary for membrane deformation around the nanoparticle. However *in vivo* evaluation is required

to evaluate the *in vivo* relevance of the study.⁹⁸ Another established example is carbon nanotubes, which are thought to exert toxicity due to their "needle-like" shape, that allow them to penetrate cell membranes. This may be relevant at least for multi-walled carbon nanotubes. ⁹⁹ In addition, the differences in shape may affect particle clearance as well, as demonstrated by Barua *et al.* in a recent *in vitro* study, which spherical, disk and rod-shaped polystyrene nano- and microparticles were evaluated for uptake in human cancer cell lines.¹⁰⁰

When it comes to surface charge, in general positive materials give a stronger cytotoxic response compared to neutral or negative charged NPs. This may be correlated with their enhanced cellular uptake. Indeed, positive NPs cause higher disruption of the plasma membrane integrity.¹⁰¹ Cationic PAMAM dendrimers have been associated with higher cytotoxic responses than non-anionic ones. The cationic response of PAMAMS appears to be generation dependent, which is associated to a different number of amino groups on the surface.^{44,102} Controlling and balancing the density of cationic groups on the surface of the nanomaterials can be used to minimize toxicity, which would be beneficial for specific biomedical applications.¹⁰³ In general, neutral or negative surface charge nanoparticles showed prolonged blood circulation time and higher EPR, than positive charge nanoparticles, that are more toxic and induce higher inflammatory reaction than anionic or neutral nanoparticles.¹⁰⁴ Another example is illustrated the distinct hydrophilicity/hydrophobicity of graphene oxide (GO), where it was shown that the different surface oxidation states modulate their cellular uptake, gene regulation and toxicological response in HepG2 cells. Overall, the GO appear to be internalized whereas, reduce GO was adsorbed and aggregated at the cell surfaces with lower uptake.¹⁰⁵

Colloidal stability determines the dispersion stability of the NPs, and it is an important physicochemical characteristic, which directly affects toxicity. Okuda-Shimazaki *et al.* demonstrated the importance of the aggregation state and revealed that larger aggregates of TiO₂ NPs (596 nm) were more cytotoxic than smaller aggregates (166 nm) upon exposure to THP1 cells. ¹⁰⁶ In this particular example, the findings suggested that the surface characteristics were more important for cytotoxic effects than the size. Wick *et al.* also illustrated the role of agglomeration on the cytotoxic effect of nanomaterials by using carbon nanotubes as a model nanoparticles.¹⁰⁷ Balasubramanian *et al.* showed the role of the primary size of particles on the biodistribution by exposing rats to airborne Au NP agglomerates of primary size of 7 and 29 nm. They showed that the smaller agglomerates of Au NPs were distributed in more organs than the bigger ones.¹⁰⁸

In order to evaluate the benefits of using nanomaterials in medical applications we should consider the possible exposure risk and understand their biodistribution. Nanoparticles can cross biological barriers and enter and distribute within cells by different pathways.¹⁰⁹ For that reason, they are considered a primary vehicle for targeted therapies. In the body we can find i) cellular barriers, including cell membrane, endosome, lysosome, and intracellular trafficking, and ii) physiological barriers

including blood, liver, spleen, kidneys, immune system, and the barriers that prevent extravasation of foreign substances from the blood. There is a concern for the risk of nanoparticles to translocate to organs and tissues and to cross different barriers.³ Understanding the barriers imposed by a biological system is critical for the design of new materials for biomedical application.¹¹⁰ Several studies have raised concern about the possible translocation of nanoparticles in the body. For instance, Choi et al. synthesized a series of near-infrared (NIR) fluorescent nanoparticles to determine how their physicochemical properties affect their biodistributions, clearance and their translocation. Their result showed that nanoparticles with hydrodynamic diameter less than 34 nm with non-cationic surface charge translocate rapidly from lungs to regional lymph nodes in rats following intratracheal instillation. Moreover, nanoparticles with an hydrodynamic diameter less than 6 nm were able to traffic from the lungs to lymph nodes and the bloodstream and cleared by the kidneys.¹¹¹ Schleh *et al.* by using different sizes gold nanoparticles with different surface charges (positive and negative), showed that size and surface charge of gold nanomaterials govern absorption across intestinal barriers and accumulation in secondary the organs after oral administration in a healthy rat model.¹¹²

The rapid clearance of circulating particles during systemic delivery is a major challenge for diagnostic contrast agents and drug delivery systems in nanomedicine. Nanoparticle parameters such as size, shape, elasticity, surface chemistry, and shape are of particular interest since the effect of the delivery vehicles in the biological systems depends directly on these properties.¹¹³

The evolution of the degradability of the nanomaterials is an important parameter to consider for their toxicity assessment and the future design of improved nanomaterials. Therefore, adverse effects may occur when nanoparticles are accumulated or cannot be biodegraded. Indeed, it is important that the degradation products are non-toxic. In accordance, Kagan *et al.* showed that single-wall carbon nanotubes could undergo biodegradation *in vitro* through human myeloperoxidase (hMPO), an enzyme present in neutrophils and in less degree in macrophages. Importantly, the enzyme degradation of nanotubes diminishes the potential of these nanomaterials to induce pro-inflammatory effects, as demonstrated *in vivo*.¹¹⁴ Moreover, it is necessary to evaluate systematically the toxicological effects of the intrinsic properties of the nanomaterials.

1.2.3 Nano-bio interactions: the protein corona

The nano-bio interface consists of the dynamic physicochemical interaction, kinetics, and thermodynamic exchanges between the surface of engineered nanomaterial and the biological constituents.¹¹⁵ When nanoparticles enter in contact with biological fluids they are immediately covered by proteins, forming what is known as "protein corona".¹¹⁶ The proteins and other biomolecules which are adsorbed on the surface of materials directly affect the interaction between the nanoparticles and biological systems.¹¹⁷ Indeed, the protein corona critically determines the biological identity of the material. Therefore, a combination of both, i) the intrinsic properties of the materials

and their physicochemical properties, and ii) the biological identity as given by the protein corona, will dictate the biocompatibility, reactivity, biodistribution, and final fate of nanoparticles.^{92, 118} However, to be able to understand these biological effects, it is essential to characterize and identify the nature of the protein corona¹¹⁹. For that reason, although different studies have attempted to address this issue, more quantitative analysis is required, to provide new knowledge on the possible biological impact.¹²⁰ Studies on protein corona formation of a well-defined i*n vitro* system, where the effect of an individual protein was evaluated, indicated that under saturation conditions, the protein corona forms a single monolayer.¹²¹ This suggests that proteins bind on the nanoparticles in specific orientation.¹²²

As it has been stated earlier, protein corona formation is the primary occurrence at the interface between nanomaterial surfaces and biological fluids. In general, loosely bound proteins will form the initial soft corona driven by protein-protein interactions.¹²³ However, with time, a denser corona will be formed,¹¹⁸ which is strongly attached to the nanomaterial surface and which is formed by high affinity proteins.¹¹⁶

Importantly, the corona formation is governed by the intrinsic properties of the nanomaterials, the ratio between nanomaterials and proteins, and the medium composition.¹¹⁶ Moreover, the formation of the protein corona appears to be a dynamic process¹²⁴ that depends on the temperature, which directly influences its composition.¹²⁵ There are studies indicating that the formation of the hard corona is an irreversible process.¹²⁶ However, it is still unclear whether the protein-NP complexes may fluctuate depending on the NP environment. Importantly, further changes in the hard corona may occur when nanoparticles translocate from one biological compartment to another one.¹²⁷ Liu *et al.* recently indicated that when nanoparticles are at the similar range sizes as proteins, the protein corona formation may be a reversible and unstable process as compared with protein formation on larger NPs.¹²⁸

One of the key challenges in nanomedicine is to design nanomaterials with the ability to target to specific tissues and cells.¹²⁹ However, the physicochemical parameters that dictate the successful targeting of nanomedicines under in vivo conditions are still poorly understood. Indeed, whether the protein corona is able to mask the surface modification of nanoparticles and thus obscures the design of the synthetic identity remains to be further investigated. Salvati *et al.* explored the role of the protein corona formed in fetal bovine or human serum on the targeting capabilities of transferrin conjugated nanoparticles.¹³⁰ For this fluorescent silica nanoparticles coated with polyethylene glycol (PEG) and functionalized with human transferrin were synthetized. To this end, A549 cells expressing the transferrin receptor were used as a model system. The result of their study demonstrated that the specific targeting ability of nanoparticles was lost in the presence of serum. Notably, the overall uptake of bare PEG silica nanoparticles (without transferrin functionalization) was higher than that of the target nanoparticles. Whether this situation will occur in vivo needs to be further evaluated.¹³⁰ The biodistribution of nanoparticles in the body will be significantly dependant on their interaction with plasma proteins.^{131,132} Is known that nanoparticle

surface, size, and characteristics determine the binding properties of plasma proteins, as well as their effect in biological systems.¹¹⁶ Blood plasma coronas are sufficiently stable that they, rather than the nanomaterial surface, will be the surface that the cell may "see.¹³³ Consequently, the protein corona may have an impact on immune cells and macrophages.¹³⁴ Mononuclear phagocyte system (MPS) plays an important role in clearance of nanomaterials. One of the principal roles of phagocytic cells is to recognise and clear foreign materials. For that reason, strategies to modify nanomaterials to moderate their residence time *in vivo* have been suggested. Coating of nanoparticles with polymers such as PEG is a common approach. Indeed, PEGylation presents an important tool to prolong the blood circulation times¹³⁵.

There are studies showing the successful outcome of nanomedicines designed with targeting strategies. For instance, Rodriguez *et al.* showed the beneficial use of a "self peptide" CD47, attached to streptavidin-coated polystyrene beads. CD47 is a marker of "self" that is express in cell membranes, that cancer cells employ to inhibit macrophage mediated obliteration. The authors showed that the functionalized nanoparticles successfully modulated their clearance rate *in vivo*. The protein increased the circulation time of nanoparticles by delayed macrophage-mediated clearance and enhanced drug delivery to tumors in mice.¹³⁶



Figure 4: Synthetic and biological identities of nanomaterials. The image is reproduced from Fadeel *et al.*⁹² with permission from. © 2013 Wiley Periodicals, Inc

Furthermore, it has been shown that phagocytic cells are able to sense and recognize the self-peptide as a "non-eat me" signal. Konduru *et al.* successfully reported the use of SWCNTs coated with a phosphatidylserine as an "eat-me" signal, to make this material recognizable by different phagocytic cells once they are administrated.¹³⁷ In addition, Kunjachan *et al.* evaluated the benefits of active versus passive tumour targeting using 10 nm sized polymer drug nanocarriers to target tumor blood vessels. The authors found that long-term levels of target nanoparticles where lower than the control polymers, suggesting the potential of active over passive tumor targeting in short circulation times. However, in the case of long-circulating nanomedicines, targeting effects should not be overemphasized.¹³⁸

There are studies addressing the effect of surface coatings on the protein corona and their role in cell uptake and recognition. For instance, Simberg and co-workers demonstrated that the surface of dextran-coated iron oxide nanoparticles could be recognized by macrophages, despite the plasma corona formation. ¹³⁹ Furthermore, Kunzmann *et al.* reported that the uptake of SPIONs by primary human immune-competent cells was determined, in part, by the nature of the surface coating¹⁴⁰. Association of drug delivery systems with blood proteins is considered one of the most critical factors that determine the biodistribution, efficacy, and toxicity of nanoparticles.¹⁴¹ Lartigue *et al.* investigated the interaction of nanoparticles with blood plasma proteins and if they are concentration dependent. Nanoparticles in contact with higher plasma concentrations were coated and stabilized. Their results demonstrated that differences in coating directly dictated macrophage uptake.¹⁴²

and reduce the systemic toxicity of drugs.¹⁴³ Whether the active targeting in relevant fluids will be achieved/ disturb needs to be further investigated.

1.2.4 Systems biology and predictive toxicology of nanomaterials

In 2007 the National Academy of Science proposed the so called "Toxicity Testing in the 21st Century" report¹⁴⁴. This paradigm was based on the need for new strategies for toxicity assessment, with the aim to shift from descriptive toxicology endpoints to more predictive toxicology approaches by using high throughput *in vitro* screening assays and computation tools, while minimizing animal tests.¹⁴⁵ Collins *et al.* further emphasized the need for a shift from *in vivo* animals experiments to *in vitro* test using lower organisms, high content techniques, and computational modelling.¹⁴⁶ In recent years, increased interest in developing rapid and comprehensive toxicology screening tools to predict the human toxicity in response to compounds has been raised.

High-throughput screening (HTS) is a method for scientific experimentation that comprises the screening of large chemical libraries for activity against biological targets via the use of automation, miniaturized assays and large-scale data analysis.¹⁴⁷ The

use of HTS techniques have emerged as a useful tool to predict effects of nanomaterials, providing faster, repetitive, systematic, and quantitative data of new materials. HTS approaches could aid to rapid assess hazards of different engineered nanomaterials.⁷⁷

Toxicology assessment of nanomaterials is expensive and time-consuming, therefore, additional experimental approaches, such us the in-silico methods have been found to be important models to predict the potential toxicity of new nanomaterials.⁶ Quantitative structure-activity relationship (QSAR) method used to predict the physicochemical properties of chemical compounds can be applied to predict metal toxicity of nanoparticles.¹⁴⁸ There are currently only few nano-QSAR modelling studies. George *et al* reported the use of a HTS assay to test the cytotoxicity of metal oxide nanoparticles in cells.¹⁴⁹ In a subsequent study, the authors combined the established HTS assay with in-silico tools to compare in vitro hazard to in vivo toxicological effects in zebrafish. Their results determined that the method was able to identify hazard and activity relationships through linkage to in-silico analysis tools.¹⁵⁰ Moreover, Puzyn *et al.* established a model to describe the cytotoxicity of 17 different types of metal oxide nanoparticles to Escherichia coli. The authors found that the model was able predicts the toxicity of metal oxide nanoparticles.¹⁴⁸ Furthermore, a biological surface adsorption index (BSAI) was established. The BSAI approach evaluates the adsorption properties of nanoparticles by quantifying the competitive adsorption of a set of small molecule probes onto the nanoparticles.¹⁵¹ Xia et al. using the BSAI approach the determined that the nanomaterials clusters according to their surface adsorption properties.¹⁵²

The "omics" technologies provide information on the whole genome, with the advantage to characterize mostly all members of a family of molecules (such as DNA, RNA, proteins, etc.) in a single analysis, enabling researchers to investigate with a global approach instead of the traditional "one gene at the time" approach.¹⁵³ With these new tools, one can address biological enquiries by understanding the biological systems as whole.¹⁵⁴ Toxicogenomics refers to the study of toxicology using techniques that elucidate how genomes respond to a toxicant or compound. Toxicogenomics approaches aim to use the new global "omics" analysis technologies such as transcriptomics, proteomics, metabolomics, lipidomics, and epigenetics, to provide evaluation of cellular molecular changes caused by chemicals and other environmental agents, with the benefit to move away from animal testing to mode-ofaction based *in vitro* tests.¹⁵⁵ This technique relies on the computational tools to analyse, process, and interpret the enormous amount of data generated, that all together will provide comprehensive information to elucidate molecular mechanisms and specific cellular pathways that have been affected, and identify patterns or signatures related to a compound or toxicity.

Systems Toxicology is expected to provide information on the dynamic interaction between molecular components of biological systems and how a determined compound could disturb these interactions.¹⁵⁶ It will provide information about the possible mechanisms, for both, compounds and nanomaterials, which will give new insights useful for risk assessment. (*cf.* Figure 5)

Systems toxicology has four main areas of interest.¹⁵⁶ i) To analyse the data obtained by the high-throughput methods, ii) to represent the relevant mechanisms of action, iii) to identify the biological responses (quantifying the dose-and time response perturbations) and iv) to build and validate the predicted computational model, with the final goal to use the information for risk assessment.



Figure 5: Systems Toxicology. The image is a adapted with permission from Sturla *et al.*¹⁵⁶ Copyright (2014) American Chemical Society.

As recently discussed by Andersen *et al.* one of the primary focus upon the exposure of a compound/chemical substance to cells or tissues is to rather identified biological pathways instead of observing only the toxicity itself.¹⁵⁷ This is also relevant for the toxicity of nanomaterials.

There are only limited system biology studies on nanomaterials. In an elegant example of the use of proteomics and bioinformatics assessment by GO-based annotation, Tsai *et al.*⁵¹ revealed that gold nanoparticles can cause cell death through the induction of endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress in the human myeloid leukemiaderived cell line K562. In a recent study Chatterjee *et al.* evaluated the effects of two commonly used graphene nanosheets, graphene oxide (GO) and reduced graphene oxide (rGO) in human hepatoma HepG2 cells using global gene expression and pathway analysis. Their results showed that the distinct oxidation states of grapheme regulated their nano-bio-interaction effect, which was observed in the cytotoxicity studies and, in the global gene expression data. Indeed, omics approaches indicated that GO trigger the TGF β 1 mediated signalling pathway whereas rGO might cause host–pathogen interaction and innate immune response through TLR4–NFkB pathway.¹⁰⁵

ToxCast, a project of the National Center for Computational Toxicology at the United States Environmental Protection Agency was created to develop methods to predict human toxicity of chemicals utilizing *in vitro* assays, computational chemistry, high-throughput screening (HTS) and various toxicogenomic approaches.¹⁵⁸ A number of different reports attempted to implement the same paradigm on nanomaterial risk assessment. Intelligent testing strategy (ITS) allows the risks of nanomaterials to be performed in an accurate, effective and efficient manner.^{159,160} The ITS-NANO project was launched in 2012 to allow development of an ITS for nanomaterials safety.¹⁶⁰ This approach has been used in other ongoing European Union projects including FP7-MARINA (see www.nanosafeycluster.eu). Overall, Systems Biology and HTS-based predictive toxicology approaches have been suggested as emerging methods to evaluate the bio-nano interaction between nanoparticles and living organisms.¹⁶¹ Therefore, in the coming years we expect to implement system biology as a tool to identify possible hazards of nanomaterials.

2 AIM OF THE THESIS

The overall aim of the thesis project is to understand the potential hazards effects of engineered nanomaterials and to evaluate their interactions with biological systems, in particular, assessment of potential immunotoxicity in order to develop optimal nanomaterials for biomedical applications. The specific aims of the study are:

- to evaluate the biocompatibility and stability of a library of library of hydroxyl functional bis-MPA dendrimers on immune cells (primary human monocyte derived macrophages and cell lines)
- to evaluate the effects of non-acutely cytotoxic PAMAM dendrimers in human bronchial epithelial cells using systems biology approaches
- to synthesize novel superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles and evaluate the biocompatibility in primary human monocyte derived macrophages to be used in biomedical application such contrast agent for magnetic resonance imaging
- to study the biocompatibility in primary human macrophages and targeted uptake of iron oxide nanoparticles with different surface coatings in ovarian cancer cells.

3 MATERIALS AND METHODS

In this thesis, different methodologies have been used to efficiently characterize the nanomaterials and evaluate their toxicity impact on different cellular models, including primary immune competent cells. Detailed information regarding synthesis of the materials and methods used are described in the paper I-IV. The methods used can be divided in to two sections; synthesis and characterization of the nanomaterials and *in vitro* toxicity assessment. For material synthesis and characterization different instrumentation has been used for; i) synthesis ii) determination of particle size, iii) surface are and charge, iv) determination of chemical composition. For *in vitro* studies we utilized; i) microscopy techniques, such us TEM, ii) Cytotoxicity assays, including; viability, necrosis, mitochondrial function iii) uptake studies, iv) different cellular assays, including cell cycle, transfection, protein corona, cytokine detection, protein corona iv) bioinformatics analyses.

Detailed description of the materials and methods used in our studies can be found in the publications and manuscripts included in the thesis. The sections below provide an overview of the methods used.

3.1 MATERIAL SYNTHESIS

3.1.1 Dendrimers

Polyester bis MPA dendrimer

Bis-MPA, TMP and hydroxyl functional aliphatic ester dendrimers of generation 1 to 5, and carboxylic functionalized 4th generation Bis-MPA dendrimers were provided by Polymer Factory Sweden AB, Stockholm, Sweden. Dendrons were synthesized as described as previously reported.^{35 162} (Paper I).

PAMAMs dendrimers

PAMAMs dendrimers were purchased from Dendritech Inc., Midland, MI.

3.1.2 Fluorescent labeling of dendrimers

In order to monitor the internalization of dendrimers in cells, PAMAM-NH₂ and PAMAM-OH were labelled with the fluorescent dyes, FITC and 5-DTAF, respectively, according to procedures previously reported. ^{22 23} Briefly, the labelled dendrimer solutions were dialyzed against distilled water through sterilized and rinsed membrane tubing for 24-48 h. Upon subsequent lyophilization, labelled dendrimers were obtained as yellow powders. The material was stored at -20°C until further use.

3.1.3 Magnetic nanoparticles

Synthesis of the DHAA-Fe₃O₄ nanoparticles

For the synthesis of DHAA-Fe₃O₄ nanoparticles, 0.1 M Fe(OH)₃ colloid solution was first prepared by adding FeCl₃·6H₂O aqueous solution into 0.45 M NaHCO₃ solution, and stirred for 30 min. Then, vitamin C water solution in a molar ratio to Fe³⁺ of 1:6 was added progressively. The mixture was further stirred for another 10 min, and then transferred into a steel-lined Teflon autoclave with a volume capability of 50 mL. The autoclave was kept at 150 °C for 4 h. After the synthesis, the particles were washed with water and ethanol for 3 times and collected by centrifugation. The nanoparticles were then easily re-dispersed in water, PBS buffer and cell culture media by ultrasonication.¹⁶³ (Paper IV).

Synthesis of Fe₃O₄-SiO₂-FA and Fe₃O₄-PEG-FA nanoparticles

Fe₃O₄-PEG nanoparticles were synthesized following a slightly modified solvothermal process previously reported by Yan *et al.*²⁰ Experimental details are provided in the paper IV. Core shell nanostructures were synthesized using a variation of the well-known Stöber process. The synthetic pathway for Fe₃O₄-SiO₂-FA particles and Fe₃O₄-PEG-FA particles, and experimental details are provided in (Paper IV).

3.2 MATERIAL CHARACTERIZATION

3.2.1 Particle size and morphology

High Resolution Transmission Electron and Scanning Electron Microscope

High Resolution Transmission Electron Microscope (HR-TEM) and Scanning Electron Microscope (SEM) were used for imaging of the nanoparticles. The morphology, size and size distribution of the iron oxide cores and iron oxide nanoparticles were investigated using these techniques. For sample preparation refer to the original articles (Paper III and IV), Briefly, In paper IV, the SEM images were obtained on a Zeiss NEON 40 Microscope and the TEM images on a Philips CM300 electron microscope accelerating a voltage of 120 kV, or the High Resolution (HR)-TEM instrument JEOL JEM 2100F (HR) with the acceleration voltage maintained at 200 kV.

3.2.2 Surface area and charge

Dynamic light scattering and zeta potential

Dynamic light scattering (DLS) studies were undertaken to assess the hydrodynamic properties of the suspensions. The experiments were performed on a Malvern Zetasizer NanoZS instrument using a He-Ne laser at 633 nm. In paper II, PAMAMs were dispersed in phosphate buffered saline solution (PBS), deionized water and keratinocyte serum-free medium, prior to DLS evaluation. In Paper III, the measurements were performed in deionized (DI) water and in RPMI + 1% penicillin/streptomycin + 10% FBS cell culture medium. In Paper IV, the

measurements were performed in McCoy's 5A medium cell culture medium with (+) and without (-) 10% fetal bovine serum non heat inactivated or in DI water using a concentration of 10 μ g/ml NPs at 25°C. Size was determined by triple measurements with 10 scans in each measurement and averages are reported (Paper II, III and IV).

Z potential

Zeta potential (ζ P) is the electrical potential created between the charged surface groups of the particle and its surrounding medium, and provides information on the particle surface charge, an important parameter to evaluate in terms of material characterization since it will provide information on the interaction between nanoparticle and biological entities such as cells surface, proteins, etc. ¹⁶⁴ A Malvern Zetasizer NanoZS instrument was operated with a He-Ne laser at 633 nm and 25 °C. Zeta potential measurements were performed at 25°C on the NanoZS. In paper II, PAMAMs were dispersed in phosphate buffered saline solution (PBS), deionized water and keratinocyte serum-free medium. In Paper IV, the measurements were performed in McCoy's 5A medium cell culture medium with (+) and without (-) 10% fetal bovine serum non hit inactivated or in deionized (DI) water using a concentration of 10 µg/ml NPs at 25°C (Paper II, III and IV).

3.2.3 Chemical composition

MALDI-TOF MS

Characterization of the polyester dendrimers was conducted using Matrix Assisted Desorption Ionization Time of Flight (MALDI-TOF), one of the most common mass spectrometry techniques used for the characterization of dendrimers. Briefly, MALDI-TOF-MS is used to obtain non-fragmented mass data of high-molecular-weight compounds.³² The MALDI-TOF MS spectrum acquisitions were conducted on a Bruker UltraFlex MALDI-TOF MS with SCOUT-MTP Ion Source equipped with a N₂-laser (337nm), a gridless ion source and reflector design. The detector mass range was set to 500-5000 Da in order to exclude high intensity peaks from the lower mass range matrix fragments. The laser intensity was set to the lowest value possible to acquire high resolution spectra. The obtained spectra were analyzed with FlexAnalysis Bruker Daltonics, Bremen, version 2.2 (Paper I).

NMR spectroscopy

Nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) is one of the most frequently used techniques for the analysis of small molecules, polymers and dendrimers, including ¹H NMR and ¹³C NMR. ¹⁶⁵ Briefly, experiments were performed on a Bruker Avance 400 MHz NMR instrument. ¹H NMR spectra were acquired with a spectral window of 20 ppm, an acquisition time of 4 seconds, and a relaxation delay of 1 second. ¹³C NMR spectra were acquired with a spectral window of 0.7 seconds, a relaxation delay of 2 seconds. The residual solvent peak was used as internal standard (Paper I).

Assessment of dendrimer degradation

In order to evaluate the stability of polyester dendrimers, The TMP-G4-OH dendrimer was dissolved in phosphate-citrate buffer of constant ionic strength (I=0.15 M) at various pH (pH 4.5, 5.5, 6.5, 7.5). For comparison, the TMP-G4-OH dendrimer was dissolved in 10 mL deionized water. The solutions were kept at 8°C, 20°C or 37°C and aliquots were taken at specific times for analysis by MALDI-TOF MS (Paper I).

Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy

Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy (FTIR) is a characterization technique that provides information on particle surface. FT-IR spectroscopy includes the absorption, emission, reflection, or photoacoustic spectrum achieved by Fourier transform of an optical interferogram.¹⁶⁶ In paper IV FT-IR spectra were measured with a PerkinElmer FTIR spectrometer in a range of 400-4000 cm⁻¹. (Paper III and IV).

X-ray powder diffraction

X-ray powder diffraction (XRD) was used to characterization of iron oxide nanoparticles. XRD can provide information on crystal structure, crystallite size, and strain, x-ray diffraction patterns. ¹⁶⁷(Paper III and IV). In Paper IV the phase composition of the core material was characterized by X-ray diffraction using a STOE-STADI MP with Cu K_{a1} ($\lambda = 1.5406$ Å) radiation.

Thermogravimetric analyses (TGA)

In paper IV The mass of the conjugated FA was stated by thermal gravimetric analysis (TGA) using a TGA Q50 (IV Q50 (TA Instruments) instrument in a flowing air atmosphere with a heating rate of 10°/min. The UV-Vis spectra were recorded in water at room temperature on a Lambda 950 (Perkin Elmer) spectrophotometer (paper III and IV).

Ultraviolet-visible spectroscopy

The ultraviolet-visible spectroscopy technique measure the attenuation of a beam after it passes through a sample. In paper IV, the UV-vis spectra were recorded in water at room temperature on Lambda 950 (Perkin Elmer) spectrophotometer.

Determination of iron content

Total Fe was determined by inductively coupled plasma atomic emission spectroscopy (ICP-AES) on a Varian Liberty 220ICP. The suspension was prepared by combining a 0.2 mL aliquot of the sample with 0.5 mL 8.8 N analytical grade HCl, and 1 mL deionised water. The mixture was heated to boiling and then immediately removed from the heat and allowed to cool to room temperature. The volume was adjusted to 50 ml for spectrometric analysis (Paper III).

Elemental analysis (EA)

In paper IV, to determine the elemental surface composition elemental analysis (EA) was performed by a CHNS EuroEA 3000 Analyzer from Hekatech.

3T MR-imaging and relaxometry

In paper III, MR-imaging and MR-relaxometry at 3T was performed in a clinical whole-body MR scanner (PHILIPS Achieva, the Netherlands) using a knee coil (SENSE-flex-M, PHILIPS, the Netherlands) at room temperature. Briefly, DHAA- Fe_3O_4 water suspensions were diluted in deionized water at Fe concentrations ranging from 0.00017 to 1.25 mM. For MR measurements 0.3 mL/well of the diluted solution was filled in custom made phantoms. Furthermore, T1-, T2- and T2*-weighted images were acquired. For details, we refer to paper III.

3.3 CELL MODELS

3.3.1 Macrophages isolation and cell culture

Macrophages are professional phagocytic cells and serve as a first line of defence against foreign intrusion. Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) were prepared from buffy coats obtained from healthy blood donors by density gradient centrifugation using Lymphoprep as described before. ¹⁶⁸ Briefly, monocytes were positively selected based on CD14 expression using CD14 MicroBeads. To obtain HMDM, CD14⁺ monocytes were cultured in complete RPMI-1640 medium, supplemented with 50 ng/mL recombinant macrophage colony-stimulating factor (M-CSF) for 3 days. (Paper I-IV).

3.3.2 Primary human bronchial epithelial cells

The respiratory tract opens the external environmental directly into the airways. Indeed, bronchial epithelial cells are in first line of defence against infections and one of their main function is to recruit neutrophils by chemotaxis as an initial response to the entry of microbes. ¹⁶⁹ The establishment of the PBEC is described in detail in previous publications.¹⁷⁰ Briefly, cells were cultured in 80 cm² plastic flasks at a density of (1–2) $\times 10^{6}$ in keratinocyte serum-free medium, supplemented with epidermal growth factor bovine pituitary extract and penicillin/streptomycin. The cultures were kept at 37 °C in a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO₂ in air, and medium was changed every second day. At confluence, the cells were detached by exposure to trypsin/EDTA solution and reseeded in the desired plates and grown to 80% confluence. (Paper II).

3.3.3 Cell line culture and differentiation

HeLa cells

HeLa, is the first continuous human cells line derived from a cervical cancer that was established in 1951¹⁷¹ from the cancer patient Henrietta Lacks. HeLa is a common cell model system used in scientific research. Cells were maintained in DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS, 1 mM Na-pyruvate, 100 U/mL penicillin, and 100

 μ g/mL streptomycin at 37°C in 5% CO₂. Cells were counted and maintained in a logarithmic growth phase for all experiments (Paper I and IV).

THP.1cells

THP.1 is a human monocytic leukemia cell line established form the blood of a boy with acute monocytic leukemia in 1980.¹⁷² Cells were cultured in RPMI-1640 medium supplemented with 10% heat-inactivated FBS, 2 mM L-glutamine, 1 mM Na-pyruvate, 5.0×10^{-5} M β -mercaptoethanol, 100 U/mL penicillin, and 100 µg/mL streptomycin. To induce differentiation into macrophage-like cells, 5.0×10^{5} cells/mL were stimulated with 150 nM PMA for 3 days at 37°C in 5% CO₂. Cells were counted and maintained in a logarithmic growth phase for all experiments (Paper I).

A549 cells

A549 originates from a human carcinoma and was established in 1972 173 and is one of the most common *in vitro* model for a type II pulmonary epithelial cell found in the alveoli of the lung. Cells were maintained in DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS, 1 mM Na-pyruvate, 100 U/mL penicillin, and 100 µg/mL streptomycin at 37°C in 5% CO₂. Cells were counted and maintained in a logarithmic growth phase for all experiments (Paper I).

SKOV-3 cells

SKOV-3 is a human ovarian carcinoma cells established in 1973 from a 64 year old female with an ovarian tumour. Cells were maintained in McCoy's 5A medium supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS), 100 U/mL penicillin and 100 μ g/mL streptomycin at 37°C in 5% CO₂. Cells were counted and maintained in a logarithmic growth phase for all experiments (Paper IV).

3.4 CYTOTOXICITY ASSESSMENT

3.4.1 Limulus Amebocyte Lysate (LAL) test

Previous studies have highlighted the importance preparing endotoxin-free nanoparticles for biomedical applications,¹⁷⁴ for that reason, nanomaterials were controlled for endotoxin contamination prior to incubation with cells. The chromogenic LAL test was used, that detect and measure the bacterial endotoxins in the samples such as Lipopolysaccharides (LPS). LPS is known to elicit immune response in animals and immune-competent cells. Briefly, the assay is based on the measurements of yellow colour, produced by the enzyme reaction, developed upon cleavage of the chromophore, p-nitroanyline, which is proportional to the amount of endotoxin concentration in the sample. The unknown concentrations of endotoxin in the samples are obtained in relation to a standard curve. The US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) mandated limits of acceptance for chromogenic LAL assays are 0.5 EU/mL). ¹⁷⁵ ¹⁷⁶ (Paper I-IV).

3.4.2 MTT assay

Cell viability was assessed based on the mitochondrial conversion of 3-(4, 5dimethyldiazol-2-yl)-2, 5 diphenyl-tetrazolium bromide (MTT). MTT is reduced by dehydrogenase enzymes to insoluble formazan in the mitochondria of the living cells. ¹⁷⁷ Briefly, cells were seeded in 96-well plates and exposed to nanoparticles at the doses and time-points indicated in complete (10% FBS) or serum-free medium. Then, the supernatant was removed and cells were incubated with 100 μ L of MTT solution (0.5 mg/mL) for 3 h at 37°C. The formazan (dark purple) is then solubilized with 50 μ l of dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO), and the concentration determined by UV-vis at 570 nm. The percentage of mitochondrial function was calculated relative to untreated cells (*cf.* Papers I-II,IV).

3.4.3 Alamar blue assay

Alamar Blue assay was used to assess cell viability based on the reduction potential of metabolically active cells¹⁷⁸. The assay utilizes Resazurin (7-Hydroxy-3H-phenoxazin-3-one 10-oxide), a non-fluorescent blue indicator dye, that is converted to highly red fluorescent resorufin via the reduction reactions of metabolically active cells. Briefly, cells were seeded in 96 well plates and exposed to specific stimuli at the indicated time-points. At the end of the treatment period, 10 μ l of AlamarBlue® reagent was added and incubated for 2-4 hours at 37°C. The fluorescence was measured at 560 nm excitation and 590 nm emission wavelengths. Since the amount of fluorescence produced is proportional to the number of living cells, the metabolic activity (cell viability) of treated cells was expressed as percentage versus the control (Paper II).

3.4.4 LDH assay

Cell viability was assessed base on the measurement of the release of lactate dehydrogenase (LDH), ¹⁷⁹, a cytoplasmic enzyme used as a marker of loss of plasma membrane integrity. Cells were seeded in 96-well plates and exposed to nanomaterials at the doses and time-points indicated. Then, 50 μ L of supernatants were assayed for LDH activity following the manufacturer's protocol. Results are presented as % Cytotoxicity = Experimental LDH / Maximum LDH release and related to untreated cells (Paper I-IV).

3.5 CELLULAR UPTAKE OF NANOPARTICLES

3.5.1 Transmission electron microscopy

TEM was used to evaluate interaction of nanoparticles with cells. TEM is able to provide information of morphology of the cell upon nanomaterials exposure, and to visualize nanomaterial (both primary particles and agglomerates) and their intracellular localization. In paper IV, internalization of folic acid-conjugated iron oxide nanoparticles was assessed by TEM analysis. Briefly, HMDMs were exposed to 50 μ g/mL of nanoparticles and SKOV-3 cells to 10 μ g/ml. At the indicated time-points, cells were harvested and samples were analyzed and visualized according to standard procedures.

3.5.2 Inductively coupled plasma-mass spectrometry (ICP-MS)

ICP-MS is a high specificity and sensitive method that can detect analytes at a very low concentrations, (part per trillion). For this reason, is an excellent sensitive quantification tool to evaluate the cellular uptake of nanoparticles upon proper digestion. However, we should take in account that ICP-MS cannot differentiate between adsorbed or internalized nanoparticles.¹⁸⁰ Quantification of the cellular content of iron was performed by ICP-MS, Briefly, $1.0x10^5$ SKOV-3 cells were seeded in FA-free medium and exposed the next day for 2 h to 10 µg/mL of nanoparticles in FA-free medium. Cells were then washed with PBS, counted and centrifuged at 1200 rpm for 5 min. Cell pellets were kept at -80 °C until further analysis. Measurement of iron content was performed using ICP-MS as described previously⁵ (Paper IV).

3.5.3 Confocal microscopy

Confocal microscopy was employed to monitor and visualize cellular internalization of FITC labelled PAMAMs. Briefly, PBEC and A549 were seeded in 24-well plates containing cover slips and allowed to attach for 24 h and were then incubated in the presence of labelled PAMAMs (0.1μ M) in KSMF medium and (1μ M) in DMEM medium respectively, for the desired time at 37 °C. To determine the co-localization of PAMAMs with subcellular compartments, PBEC were incubated with labelled PAMAMs as indicated. Thirty min before fixation, Lysotracker (1μ M) or MitoTracker Deep Red FM (150 nM) was added. Slides were fixed with 4% formaldehyde, and mounted with DAPI-containing medium and visualized using a ZEISS LSM510META microscope (Paper II).

3.5.4 Flow cytometry analysis of particle uptake

The uptake of fluorescently labeled NPs can generally be quantified by flow cytometric analysis.¹⁸¹ ¹⁸² To study the internalization of FITC labelled PAMAMs, PBECs were exposed to the fluorescently labelled PAMAMs (0.1 μ M) for the indicated time-points. Cells were then washed with PBS and incubated with trypan blue (250 μ g/ml) (to quench extracellular fluorescence) for 5 min. Cells were then washed, centrifuged at 800 rpm for 5 min, and washed again. Flow cytometry was performed using a FACScan equipped with a 488 nm argon laser (Becton Dickinson, San Jose, CA) operating with CellQuestPro software (Becton Dickinson) (Paper II).

3.6 MEASUREMENT OF CYTOKINES

3.6.1 ELISA

Nanomaterial exposure could modulate normal immune function, for instance interacting with cells of the immune system, including phagocytes, that represents one of the first lines of defence against foreign organism and particles. Consequently, release of cytokines could occur.¹³² Cytokine secretion was studied as a functional endpoint in HMDM cells upon exposure to nanoparticles. Indeed, secretion of TNF- α , a

pro-inflammatory cytokine known to be released from activated HMDM was evaluated by the enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA), an enzymatic assay that uses antigen – antibody reaction. Briefly, culture supernatants from HMDM were collected following nanomaterial exposure and kept at -80 °C until cytokine analysis. TNF- α release was measured according to the manufacturer's instruction. The absorbance was measured at 405 nm. Results were expressed as pg/mL of released cytokine using cells from different healthy blood donors.

3.6.2 ELISpot

Macrophage secretion of cytokines was assessed by enzyme-linked immunosorbent spot (ELISpot), a common assay to monitor immune responses in humans and animals. ELISpot assay measures cytokines secreted by cells at the single cell level. Briefly, cells are cultivated on a 96 well plate coated with a desired capture antibody. Upon stimulus, cells could secret cytokines, which successively will be captured by the specific antibodies on the surface. Indeed, to capture anti-cytokine antibodies for macrophage inflammatory protein (MIP)-1 β , tumour necrosis factor (TNF)- α , granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF), interleukin (IL)-6, IL-10 and IL-12 were diluted in sterile PBS to a concentration of 15 µg/mL and added to the plates. After incubation overnight at +4°C, unbound antibodies were removed by washing with sterile PBS followed by blocking for 30 min with complete cell culture medium. 500 or 750 hundred HMDM cells in 100 µL cell culture medium were added and co-incubated with nanoparticles at desired doses and time points. Cells were washed out with PBS and the plates were incubated for 2 h at room temperature (RT) with 100 μ L/well of biotinylated antibodies to MIP-1 β , TNF- α , GM-CSF, IL-6, IL-10 or IL-12 diluted to 1 µg/mL in PBS with 0.5% FBS. Then, the plates were washed in PBS and incubated for 1 h at RT with streptavidin-alkaline phosphatase diluted 1:1000 in PBS with 0.5% FBS. Finally, the plates were developed with fresh filter BCIP/NBT substrate solution at RT until distinct spots emerged. The colour development was stopped by repeated washings with tap water. After drying, the spots were counted with an ELISpot reader using the AID ELISPOT software.¹⁶⁸

3.7 SIRNA TRANSFECTION

3.7.1 siRNA transfection

siRNAs are simply internalized into cells with a siRNA transfection reagent. The success of gene silencing will depend on the correct delivery of siRNA. Transfection of SKOV-3 cells using specific siRNA against FOLR1 (Folic acid receptor alpha) was performed with Transfection Reagent DharmaFECT1 according to the manufacturer's protocol. A scrambled sequence was used as a negative control (Paper IV).

3.7.2 Flow cytometric assessment of receptor expression

Surface expression of FR- α on SKOV-3 was evaluated by indirect immunostaining using the anti-folate receptor antibody (2 µg/ml) followed by Alexa488 conjugated anti-mouse secondary antibody. Furthermore, non-specific fluorescence was monitored
using an isotype-matched control antibody followed by labelling with the secondary antibody. Flow cytometry analyses were performed using a FACScan operating with CellQuestPro software (Becton Dickson) (Paper IV).

3.8 CELL CYCLE ANALYSIS

PBECs and A549 cells were seeded at a density of 12 and 5.0 $\times 10^4$ cells/mL, respectively in a 12-well plate and exposed to PAMAMs. After harvesting and washing with cold PBS, the cells were re-suspended in 500 μ L Triton X-100 staining buffer to permeabilize the cells. Then, propidium iodide was added and cells were analyzed by flow cytometry within 30 min on a FACSCalibur (Becton Dickinson) operating with CellQuestPro software. MultiCycle AV (De Novo Software) was used for cell cycle analysis (Paper II).

3.9 "OMICS" ANALYSES

3.9.1 Transcriptomics

mRNA sequencing data acquisition and pre-processing

PBECs were exposed to PAMAMs and total RNA was extracted and purified from the cells and the samples were kept at -80°C until further use. The mRNA Seq of polyadenylated transcripts from total RNA (samples are purified by poly-A enrichment before library creation using Illumina Tru-seq RNA) was used to profile nanoparticle treated and control samples at the Science for Life Laboratory, Stockholm, Sweden.

mRNA sequencing data analysis

Counts from RNA sequencing, mapped to Ensemble gene identifiers (hg19), were processed and further analyzed using the R statistical programming language version 3.0.2 (2013-09-25) and Bioconductor version 2.13 packages edgeR_3.4.1 and limma_3.18.4. Only genes that were differentially expressed between PAMAM-NH₂ and control as well as PAMAM-NH₂ and PAMAM-OH were further analyzed. In addition, donor-specific effect ratios were calculated by normalizing filtered counts, offsetting the normalized pseudo-counts by 0.5 and log2 transforming them. Genes were filtered by requiring that from the PAMAM-NH₂ *vs*. controls and *vs*. PAMAM-OH, 5/6 (ratio) had to be in in the same direction.

3.9.2 Bioinformatic assessment

Gene Ontology enrichment analysis

Gene Ontology (GO) categories describe how gene products behave in a cellular context: biological process: molecular function and intracellular compartment. GO enrichment analysis was performed with R/Bioconductor package topGO_2.14.0 using annotations from GO.db_2.10.1 and org.Hs.eg.db_2.10.1. Only gene categories which had a significance of p<0.01 and at least three significant genes are reported.

Pathway and upstream regulator analysis

The regulatory networks and upstream regular analysis were generated using the Ingenuity Pathway Analysis (IPA) software (Ingenuity® Systems, www.ingenuity.com, Redwood City, CA, application version 220217, content version 16542223). Based on the information data generated from millions of IPA tool generates molecular networks from the selected/interest genes.

3.10 ASSESSMENT OF BIO-CORONA

3.10.1 Isolation of the hard protein corona

The preparation of nanoparticle protein corona formation consists of three main steps: i) preparation of the biological fluid (plasma or serum) ii) Incubation of NPs with biological fluid, iii) Separation of NP–protein corona complexes from excess of fluid by and washes to eliminate loosely bound proteins "soft corona"¹⁸³. In Paper IV, the hard corona proteins recovered from the iron folic acid conjugated iron oxide nanoparticles incubated with different % of FBS were compared by separation using SDS-PAGE gel electrophoresis. Briefly, to induce the formation of the protein corona at the nanoparticle surface, NPs were mixed with different FBS concentrations (1:10 volume ratio) for 1 h at 37°C. After incubation, the samples were centrifuged to pellet the nanoparticle protein complexes. The supernatant was discarded and the pellet was washed with PBS. Finally, after the last centrifugation, the pellet was suspended carefully with 100 μ L of PBS buffer. Then, samples were incubated for 5min to 100 C to denature the proteins, cooled to room temperature, and loaded into a gel electrophoresis until the proteins neared. The gels were stained on the same day using the silver staining kit (Paper IV).

4 RESULTS

4.1 PAPER I. STABILITY AND BIOCOMPATIBILITY OF A LIBRARY OF POLYESTER DENDRIMERS IN COMPARISON TO POLYAMIDOAMINE DENDRIMERS

Dendrimers are polymer materials that could be design in a control manner to obtain specific, size, shape, density, branches, and surface functionality. Taken together this make these polymer structures optimal candidates for therapeutic applications. In Paper I, we investigated the stability and biocompatibility of different polyester dendrimers based on 2,2-bis(methylol)propionic acid (bis-MPA) in human cancer cells and primary human macrophages and compare them to polyamidoamine (PAMAMs) dendrimers. Dendrimers were synthesized as reported and thoroughly characterized by matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry (MALDI-TOF MS), proton and carbon nuclear magnetic resonance (¹H, ¹³C NMR) spectroscopy (¹³C NMR).

In order to investigate the biocompatibility of the library of hydroxyl functional bis-MPA dendrimers, first we evaluated the mitochondrial function and plasma membrane integrity after dendrimer exposure to human cervical cancer (HeLa) cells and acute monocytic leukemia cells (THP.1) differentiated into macrophage-like cells, and our results showed good biocompatibility at the time and dose used. Then, we evaluated their effects in primary human monocyte derived macrophages (HMDM) and compared with commercial PAMAMs with two different surface functionalization, amine and hydroxyl end groups respectively for comparison. Our findings demonstrated excellent biocompatibility for the entire hydroxyl functional bis-MPA dendrimer library to HMDMs, whereas the cationic, but not the neutral PAMAMs exerted dose-dependent cytotoxicity.

Nanoparticles may have an impact on the functional responses of immune cells¹⁶⁸, for that reson, we investigated whether dendrimers trigger cytokine release in HMDM by using the ELISpot assay. For that, we exposed dendrimers, dendrons to HMDM at doses of 10 μ M for 24 h. Our results showed that no significant release of the pro inflammatory cytokines, TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-6, or GM-CSF, a growth factor for granulocytes and monocytes, or MIP-1 β , a chemoattractant for monocytes and other immune cells, was detected in macrophages exposed either to bis-MPA dendrimers or PAMAMs, however LPS (0.1 μ g/mL) that was used as a positive control in the experiment, induce cytokines secretion in HMDM.

In addition, the degradation rate of TMP-G4-OH dendrimer as a function of pH, temperature, and time was evaluated by MALDI-TOF MS. The stability was evaluated at the following parameters; pH 4.5, 5.5, 6.5 and 7.5 and at 8°C, 20°C and 37°C, and all preparations were prepared at a 100 μ M and an ionic strength of 0.15 M. Our results showed that the bis-MPA dendrimers were degradable materials; indeed, TMP-G4-OH

dendrimers degraded more rapidly at physiological pH (7.5) when compared to acidic pH (4.5) (where no degradation was observed up to 40 days), demonstrating that the stability of the materials increases at low pH.

In summary, we suggest that due to their excellent biocompatibility found in our *in vitro* studies, the hydroxyl functional bis-MPA dendrimers are promising materials for prospect biomedical applications. However, further *in vivo* validation is required to confirm these findings.

4.2 PAPER II. NEXT GENERATION SEQUENCING REVEALS LOW-DOSE EFFECTS OF DENDRIMERS IN PRIMARY HUMAN BRONCHIAL EPITHELIAL CELLS: A SYSTEMS BIOLOGY STUDY

While the toxicity of engineered nanomaterials are currently being extensively investigated using different in vitro systems, up today, there are few studies addressing the effects of low doses of materials. To this end, we evaluated the effect of non-acutely cytotoxic doses of PAMAM dendrimers in primary human bronchial epithelial cells using a systems biology approach to predict the effects of these materials. Specifically, we evaluated the toxicogenomic profile of dendrimers by exposing primary human bronchial epithelial cells to Generation 4 PAMAM dendrimers with hydroxyl (-OH) or amino (-NH₂) terminating groups using next generation sequencing (RNA-Seq). PBEC were exposed to PAMAMs at doses that did not elicit acute cytotoxicity. To this end, dose-response studies evaluating cell vitality and plasma membrane damage were conducted. Notably, PAMAM-NH2, but not PAMAM-OH elicited dose- and timedependent cytotoxicity in PBECs. Based on our results, we selected non-cytotoxic doses (at 48 h) for subsequent studies (0.1 μ M). Next, we evaluated the internalization of fluorescently labelled PAMAM dendrimers by PBECs using flow cytometry and confocal microscopy. Our results showed that PAMAM-NH₂ were more readily internalized when compared with PAMAM-OH and cellular uptake appeared to ensure through an active mechanism, as demonstrated by the reduction of uptake upon incubation with Cytochalasin D, an inhibitor of actin cytoskeleton polymerization. Furthermore, dendrimers were internalized and localized in lysosomes and not found either mitochondria or cell nuclei.

Then, PBECs from three different human donors were exposed to not acutely cytotoxic doses of PAMAMs or medium alone for 48 h and subjected to whole gene transcription. The RNA-Seq data revealed that PAMAM-OH did not elicit any transcriptional responses while PAMAM-NH₂ induced changes in gene transcription at the doses and time used. Overall, our statistical analyses indicate increased expression of 61 genes and decreased expression of 152 genes. In order to better understand and classify the transcriptional changes observed in PBEC upon exposure of PAMAM-NH₂, bioinformatics tools were employed. Gene Ontology (GO) enrichment analysis was performed, markedly, the GO category for 'cell division' encompassing 47/152 genes ($p<10^{-22}$) was the most strongly down-regulated category. Notably, GO

categories with *increased* activities involved extracellular matrix disassembly, positive regulation of cell migration, and immune responses. Furthermore, Ingenuity Pathway Analysis of putative upstream regulators proposed that several genes were transcriptional targets of p53 and NF-kappaB.

We therefore evaluated the effects of PAMAMs on cell cycle progression in PBEC since appear to be the most strongly down-regulated category. We found that PAMAM-NH₂ impaired the cell cycle, with retention of cells in S-phase. Then, we investigated whether higher doses of PAMAM-OH could effect to cell cycle. Even when PBECs were exposed to higher doses or for a longer time (72h), PAMAM-OH did not cause cell cycle arrest. Thus, suggesting that cell cycle arrest observed is related to surface functionalization of the PAMAM dendrimers. The upstream regulator analysis indicated that several of cell cycle-related genes were associated to NF- κ B activation, then, we evaluated the role of NF- κ B in cell progression. For that, PBEC were pre-incubated with a non-cytotoxic dose of Bay-117082 an inhibitor of NF- κ B. Notably, Bay-117082 restored cell cycle progression in PBECs exposed to PAMAM-NH₂ as predicated by the upstream analyses.

To this end, we evaluated whether PAMAM-NH₂ are able to induce cell cycle arrest in another cell system, the human lung adenocarcinoma epithelial cell line A549. Notably, our biocompatibility studies revealed that A549 cells were distinctly less sensitive than the primary bronchial epithelial cells. Based on our cell dose response viability studies, we select non-cytotoxic dose (1 μ M) to evaluate potential effects of PAMAMs on cell cycle progression upon exposure for 48 and 72 h. Our results showed that PAMAMs did not induce cell cycle arrest in A549. However, Resveratrol, known to cause accumulation of cells in S-phase, triggered retention of A549 cells in S-phase.

In summary, the integrative approach presented in paper II, based on whole transcriptome sequencing using RNA-Seq and computation tools, have enabled the discovery and prediction mechanisms underlying cellular responses of non-acutely cytotoxic doses of PAMAMs to PBEC. The prediction was confirmed by in vitro cell-based assays, demonstrating the benefits of system biology approaches in toxicology and risk assessment of nanomaterials.

4.3 PAPER III. WATER-SOLUBLE SUPERPARAMAGNETIC MAGNETITE NANOPARTICLES WITH BIOCOMPATIBLE COATING FOR ENHANCED MAGNETIC RESONANCE IMAGING

The aim of the study was to synthesize novel ultra-small superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles (USIRONs) that could be used as negative contrast agents for MRI and to investigate possible toxic effects in primary human macrophages. USIRONs were synthesized by a simple hydrothermal method and were prepared by the chemical reduction of $Fe(OH)_3$ colloid, by using vitamin C (a natural nutrient) as reducing agent under mild hydrothermal condition. This synthesis, provides a control and slow

condensation of the iron hydroxides that allows to obtain SUIRONs with superior physiochemical properties as compared with the traditional co-precipitation methods.¹⁸⁴ Indeed, the oxidized Vitamin C, the dehydroascorbic acid (DHAA), also acts as a stabilizer and allows the synthesis of water soluble iron oxide nanoparticles by a simple one-step method.

Overall, USIRONs exhibit an average crystalline core size of $(5.1 \pm 0.5 \text{ nm})$. XRD measurements confirmed the nature of the iron oxide phase (cubic Fe₃O₄) and the TEM images illustrated that those nanoparticles have spherical shape and narrow size distribution. The hydrodynamic conditions were studied by DLS, and found that the average hydrodynamic sizes was 41 nm, bigger that the core size determined by XRD, TEM and magnetometry. Additionally, nanoparticles present a relatively monodisperse distribution with a PDI value of 0.12. Importantly, size, PDI and scattered intensity appear to be stable over time at different pH ranges. At the end, FT-IR was used to confirm the chemical transformation of vitamin C to DHAA.

A comprehensive magnetic characterization was performed on USIRONs. The results showed that DHAA-Fe₃O₄ nanoparticles presented superparamagnetic properties with a saturation magnetization value of 47 emu g⁻¹, a value higher than other described iron oxide nanoparticles of similar size prepared by the solvothermal and high-temperature decomposition processes¹⁸⁵. Furthermore, phantom experiments on the contrast agent (clinical 3 T MRI scanner) of DHAA-Fe₃O₄ suspensions revealed a relaxivity value ratio was r_2/r_1 of 36.4 (with $r_1=5 \text{ s}^{-1} \text{ mM}^{-1}$ and $r_2=182 \text{ s}^{-1} \text{ mM}^{-1}$), a value greater than clinically approved agents. Strong contrast was observed by T₂ and T₂*-weighted images giving evidence of the potential use of DHAA-Fe₃O₄ nanoparticles for biological applications, for instance, as a negative contrast agents for MRI.

In order to evaluate the biocompatibility of the USIRONs, primary human monocytederived macrophages were selected as a relevant model system, because when nanoparticles are intravenous administrated they may come in contact with immune competent cells. HMDM were exposed to different doses of DHAA-Fe₃O₄ nanoparticles for desired dose and time, and cell vitality was assessed by the lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) release assay. Our results showed that cell viability of primary human macrophages exposed to USIRONs for 24 h was not affected as compared with ZnO used as a positive control. We further assessed the effect of DHAA-Fe₃O₄ on cytokine secretion (TNF- α) upon exposure to HMDM, and no cytokine release was observed in cells following incubation with USIRONs.

In summary, we effectively synthetized a biocompatible DHAA-Fe₃O₄ nanoparticle with narrow size distribution and long term colloidal stability with excellent superparamagnetic properties, that altogether, make these materials promising candidates for future medical application such as negative contrast agents.

4.4 PAPER IV. TARGETED UPTAKE OF FOLIC ACID-FUNCTIONALIZED IRON OXIDE NANOPARTICLES BY OVARIAN CANCER CELLS IN THE PRESENCE BUT NOT IN THE ABSENCE OF SERUM

Understanding the interaction of nanomaterials with proteins in a physiological environment is of considerable importance. In the present study, we synthesized folic acid (FA)-conjugated iron oxide nanoparticles with two different intermediate coatings, inorganic silica (SiO₂) and organic polyethylene-glycol (PEG), respectively, and assessed biocompatibility and targeting efficiency using primary human macrophages and ovarian cancer cells. Indeed, we decided to investigate whether FA functionalization of NPs would lead to specific uptake by ovarian cancer cells, which were shown to express high levels of the folate receptor (FR)- α .

Magnetic iron oxide nanoparticles (Fe₃O₄-PEG) with narrow size distribution and an average primary particle size of 18.4 nm were synthesized by solvothermal decomposition of iron salt in aqueous solution. The TEM and XRD measurements confirmed that phase structure of the iron oxide. Next, NPs were coated with either SiO₂ or PEG. To form SiO₂ nanoparticles, a ligand exchange with PVP in isopropanol was required. For the subsequent functionalization of core-shell nanoparticles with FA, amino-propyl-tri-methoxy silane was used as the coupling agent. The TEM images and the FT-IR analyses evaluated the patterns of the core and shell phases and the silane linkers on the nanoparticles respectively, confirming the successful reactions. Finally, functionalization with FA was achieved by coupling the terminal amino groups of the Fe₃O₄-SiO₂-NH₂ nanoparticles previously obtained with FA using 1-ethyl-3-(3-dimethylaminopropyl)carbodiimide (EDC) as a coupling agent. To form Fe₃O₄-PEG-FA, Fe₃O₄-PEG particles were coupled directly to FA using a condensation reaction. The characterization data revealed that the primary particle sizes were 20 nm for Fe₃O₄-PEG-FA and 80 nm for Fe₃O₄-SiO₂-FA nanoparticles.

Next, we evaluated their biocompatibility in primary human macrophages; overall, nanoparticles were shown to be non-cytotoxic at the time and doses used, as revealed by the mitochondrial function studies and TEM images. Subsequent, folate receptor alpha-mediated cellular uptake was investigated using ovarian cancer cell lines (SKOV-3), which were shown to express high levels of the receptor. Nanoparticles were exposed to 10 μ g/mL for 2h. The data indicated that the reduction of folate receptor-alpha expression (using specific siRNA) resulted in a significant decrease in the internalization of the Fe₃O₄-SiO₂-FA nanoparticles in ovarian cancer cells, whereas the uptake of Fe₃O₄-PEG-FA nanoparticles was not affected as evaluated by ICP-MS and TEM images. Notably, specific FA targeted uptake was only detected in the presence of serum proteins.

PEG modification usually disrupts the protein adsorption; this could be the reason for that specific FR- α -mediated cellular uptake was observed only for Fe₃O₄-SiO₂-FA nanoparticle. For that reason, we investigated the protein adsorption capability between

of the two nanoparticles to get a better understanding of their cellular uptake mechanism. For that, we evaluated whether the protein corona could be formed for both nanoparticles; Fe_3O_4 -SiO_2-FA and Fe_3O_4 -PEG-FA were incubated with 10% or 55% FBS or in PBS alone for 1 h at 37°C and proteins recovered from the 'hard' corona were visualized by SDS/PAGE. Under these conditions, we found that the Fe₃O₄-PEG-FA particles adsorbed serum proteins more abundantly than the Fe₃O₄-SiO₂-FA particles.

To conclude, we successfully synthesized for Fe_3O_4 -SiO₂-FA and Fe_3O_4 -SiO₂-FA core shell nanostructures using a variation of the well-known Stöber process with a narrow size distribution, presenting crystalline magnetic core. Interestingly we found that serum is required for folate dependent targeting to ovarian cancer cells. Due to their targeting capability and in vitro biocompatibility, Fe_3O_4 -SiO₂-FA nanoparticles are promising candidates for biomedical applications.

5 GENERAL DISCUSSION

5.1 BIOCOMPATIBILITY OF NANOMATERIALS: TOWARDS PREDICTIVE TOXICITY TESTING

Nanotechnology, nanotoxicology and nanomedicine are complementary disciplines that aim to provide future novel and superior medicines.⁷⁶ However, for the successful development and implementation of new design materials, it is essential to understand how the material intrinsic properties are linked to the physiological responses.⁹²

In order to increase our knowledge of how physicochemical parameters of nanoparticles affect biological systems, implementation of systematic and mechanistic *in vitro* studies is needed.¹⁸⁶ In particular, it is important to assess how the intrinsic properties of the ENM (that will dictate their biological "identity" affects in immune system, which comprises the first line of defence again foreign materials¹⁸⁷. Thus, part of the work presented here emphasizes the importance and the relevance of using primary human cells for the toxicity assessment of ENM. Primary cells maintain their phenotype *in vitro* and therefore a suitable model to closely mimic the *in vivo* situation. However, cell lines were also used, in particular for the assessment of targeting efficiency, and for reproducible systematic screening assays.

Macrophages are one of the principal cells of the immune system, and represent the first line of defence against foreign materials including nanomaterials. Macrophages play important key roles in host defence, comprising phagocytosis, antigen presentation and immunomodulation. Notably, recent studies suggested that macrophages are mature differentiated cells with possible self-renewal capacity (local proliferation), similar to the capacity adopted by the stem cells.¹⁸⁸ It will be important to determine the general mechanism of nanoparticle induce immunotoxicity, including i) recognition of nanoparticles thorough surface receptors, for instance Tolllike receptors, ii) macrophages dysfunction, iii) inflammation responses such us induction of proinflamatory cytokines, chemokines and adhesions molecules and iv) genotoxicity, such generation of oxygen radicals.¹⁸⁷ The effects of nanoparticles on macrophages are still largely unknown. In this thesis, we carefully evaluated the possible immunotoxicity of dendrimers and SPIONs in primary human derived macrophages, as key cells of the innate immune system. The airway epithelium is the primary barrier for inhaled particles and compounds into the body, including particulate matter and airborne chemicals.¹⁸⁹ For that reason, in paper II, primary human bronchial epithelial cells (PBEC) were selected as a model system as these cells play an important function in the innate immune defence against inhaled pathogens and particulates,¹⁹⁰ and are involved in the recruitment of neutrophils by chemotaxis¹⁶⁹ and in the cell clearance in the airways.¹⁹¹

Engineered nanomaterials present a great potential for a wide range of medical applications. In the thesis, it was attempted to evaluate how different physicochemical

properties nanomaterials affect their biocompatibility, for their use in medicines. The nanomaterials evaluated are dendrimers and SPIONs, two different types of nanomaterials with great potential as drug delivery systems and imaging agents (MRI) respectively.

In paper I, we evaluated the biocompatibility and stability of an entire library of bis-MPA polyester dendrimers. This included the building blocks, core structures, as well as PAMAMs. Different methodologies have been used to efficiently characterize these nanomaterials and evaluate their possible cytotoxic impact on different cell lines and primary human macrophages. Overall, polyester dendrimers studied in this work exhibit excellent biocompatibility at the doses and incubation times used.

In general, the successful translocation of dendrimers from laboratory bench to the clinic, will depend on their biocompatibility, reasonably fast renal elimination, and degradation rate.¹⁹² In addition, the efficacy of drug delivery systems will be also relying on their efficiency to deliver their cargo to the site of interest. In this context, the possible degradation of nanoparticles in lysosomes should be taken in account.¹⁹³ There are studies showing that PAMAM dendrimers enter cells by endocytosis ¹⁹⁴. Within cells, the pH values of subcellular compartments may differ. Thus, the acidity increases sequentially from endocytic vesicles to early endosomes (pH=6.5), late endosomes, and lysosomes (pH<5.5). ¹⁹⁵ For that reason, in Paper I, we evaluated the stability of dendrimers *in vitro* at different pH values and incubation times by using MALDI TOF MS. We verified that hydroxyl functionalized bis-MPA dendrimers are degradable materials. Specifically, TMP-G4-OH dendrimers degrade faster at physiological pH (7.5) when compared to acidic pH (4.5). This demonstrates that the stability of the dendrimers increases at low pH.

Nanotoxicology aims to identify potential health effects and mechanism of action of nanomaterials. However, careful understanding of nanomaterial physicochemical needed properties is desired for the future use of this material in medicine. Thus, extensive and systematic toxicological studies are needed it to build a comprehensive risk assessment of nanomaterials. For instance, Li et al.¹⁹⁶ evaluated the role of surface functionalization and size of CNT materials, which were all obtained from the same pristine batch. A library of CNTs including carboxyl (-COOH,), polyethylene glycol (-PEG), hexane diamine (-NH₂), sidewall amine (-sw-NH₂), and polyethyleneimine (-PEI) functionalized multiwall carbon nanotubes (MWCNTs) was synthetized and well characterized. The *in vitro* studies were conducted in epithelial cells and macrophages. The study demonstrated the important role of surface charge in both toxicity, and cellular response. Indeed, anionic functionalization (-COOH and -PEG) decreased the pulmonary fibrogenic potential compared to as-prepared APMWCNTs. In addition the positive charge of cationic functionalization (-PEI) induced more pulmonary fibrosis. However, neutral and weak cationic functionalization (-NH₂ and sw-NH₂) showed intermediary effects.¹⁹⁶ Furthermore, Li et al. recently synthesised a library of 10 rare earth oxide (REOs) NPs with an average size of 18-60 nm and studied their biological transformation in an acidic lysosomal fluid, as well as their impact in triggering lung fibrosis. With this systematic approach, both *in vitro* and *in vivo*, the authors demonstrated that upon macrophage and lysosomal processing, REO nanoparticles undergo dissolution, leading to NLRP3 inflammasome activation, whereas pre-treatment of REO NPs with phosphates in a neutral pH prevented biological adverse effects.¹⁹⁷ These systematic studies were able to reveal the detailed mechanism of toxicity induced by these nanomaterials.

In paper I, we evaluated a library of polyester bis-MPA dendrimers, to allow a systematic and comprehensive toxicity study. However, due to their excellent biocompatibility, no further mechanism of toxicity was contemplated. In addition, in paper II, we investigated the effect of surface charge on the toxicity response of non-acutely cytotoxic doses of PAMAMs to primary human bronchial epithelial cells. We observed that positively charged PAMAMs exhibit higher toxicity and higher uptake than the neutral PAMAMs, as previous reported also with other model systems.^{198 199}

5.2 SYSTEMS BIOLOGY APPROACHES FOR NANOMEDICINE AND NANOSAFETY

Rapid growth in the field of nanotechnology involving novel synthesis of materials has emerged in the past few years due to the fact, that the novel physicochemical properties arising at the nano scale make ENM very attractive and promising for a wide range of applications. However, the increasing use of ENM rise the need to assessed the potential impact on human health and environmental. The effects of these new materials in human health are not well understood, as previously emphasized, nanotoxicology studies will give us references and guidelines to build and design new safe nanomaterials. Nevertheless, efficient and mechanistic toxicology tests are required to compare and predict the new paradigm for assessing the potential risk of these materials. System biology approaches together with in vitro high throughput screening (HTS) techniques will facilitate the development of new nanomaterials, by providing early prediction and mechanism information of cell interactions before moving to animal testing. The field of system biology is at an early stage but the goal is to use this approach and techniques to provide prediction of toxicity. With the implementation of these new tools, it will be possible to obtain toxicity data of thousands of nanomaterials, reduce the high time and cost of the animal testing: and facilitate development of safe nanomaterials.

The potential impact of the nanomaterials on gene transcription has attracted considerable interest.^{200 201} However, studies addressing the effect of non-cytotoxic doses of ENM on gene expression profiling are rare. Although the toxicity of PAMAM dendrimers have been extensively reported, due to their potential use as nanomedicines, including; drug delivery, diagnosis and therapy,²⁰² the molecular-level interaction mechanism and the cell pathways involved still not clear. We therefore, in Paper II, investigated the effects of non-cytotoxic doses of PAMAM dendrimers on gene expression in PBEC by using RNA-Seq and bioinformatics tools to identify biological

outcomes of these materials. Indeed, using system biology approach, we showed that PAMAM-NH₂ and not PAMAM-OH prompted changes in gene expression profile as reveal by RNA-Seq and bioinformatics analyses. With the use of computation tools; GO and upstream regulator analyses, we predicted that these changes were induced through p53 and/or NF- κB dependent manner. Because GO analysis suggested that the genes that were affected upon exposure to PAMAM-NH₂ primarily represented the cell cycle category, we assessed the cell cycle in PBECs exposed to PAMAMs dendrimers. Notably, low-dose exposure of cells to cationic PAMAMs, but not to PAMAM-OH, for 48 h triggered cell cycle arrest, with retention of the cells in S-phase as anticipated by the of the systems biology-based predictions. Remarkably, Kim *et al.* reported that amino functionalized polystyrene nanoparticles induced cell cycle arrest in A549 cells was p53-independent. Therefore, it remains possible that different nanoparticles induce cell cycle arrest through different mechanisms.²⁰³

Nanotoxicological studies are often based on the assessment of acute cytotoxicity, often using unrealistically high doses of materials. For future implementation of nanomedicine, more subtle effects occurring at low doses need to be addressed to better understand the toxicity of these nanomaterials. In Paper II, we have defined a "low" dose as a dose that does not cause acute cytotoxicity in the cell model used, PBEC. Notably, in Paper II, we were able to identify up regulation of gene related to immune systems such as TNF and MMP-9 and MMP-3, upon exposure of low doses of PAMAM.NH₂ to PBEC. Interestingly, in a recent study of transcriptomic responses in zebrafish embryos, Oliveira *et al.* showed that PAMAM-NH₂ (generation 3 and 4) caused transcriptional changes in zebrafish embryos at sub-lethal doses, consistent with the activation of the innate immune response. Specifically, PAMAMs induced expression of genes that are related to the innate immune response to bacteria including *tnfb, irg1l, mmp9* and *mmp13.*⁴⁸

To date, few studies to date have applied system biology approach on nanomaterialexposed cells. In a recent study, Lucafo *et al.*⁴⁹ evaluated the gene expression profile of human MCF-7 breast carcinoma cell line exposed to fullerenes using RNA-Seq technology. The bioinformatics analysis was followed by Connectivity Map (CM) analysis. CM identified similarities between the transcriptional signatures produced by fullerenes and those produced by other compounds with known modes of action. With this tool, the authors indicated that the gene expression pattern of fullerene-treated cells was similar to those induced by selective inhibitors of mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) signalling. Notably, in Paper II, when CM analysis was performed on our RNA-Seq data obtained in PBECs exposed to low doses of PAMAMs, we observed that the gene expression profile of PAMAM-NH₂ matched those of several compounds known to cause S-phase arrest (unpublished observation).

Toxicogenomics will move the traditional toxicology through the global observation of genomic responses to chemicals or substances²⁰⁴ and improve our understanding of mechanisms of toxicity.²⁰⁵ The combined application of the enabling omics

technologies with bioinformatics tools, will allow us to obtain more predictive information of mechanism of action of nanomaterials, as demonstrated in Paper II.

5.3 THE BIOLOGICAL IDENTITY OF NANOMATERIALS AND ITS BIOLOGICAL IMPLICATIONS

SPIONs are FDA approved nanomaterials for biological applications, such as contrast agents.²⁰⁶ However, the success of the new improved SPIONs is only accomplished if they present both, superior physicochemical properties and excellent biocompatibility. The main purpose of Paper III and IV was to synthetize new iron oxide nanoparticles with different surface coating, and to evaluate their effect on biocompatibility and mode of action of these materials at the nano-bio interface.

The preparation of water dispersible iron oxide nanoparticles with proper surface coatings poses a challenge to nanomaterials synthesis. Therefore, in Paper III, stable aqueous USIRONs were successful synthetized by chemical reduction of $Fe(OH)_3$ using vitamin C as reducing agent. USIRONs presented excellent biocompatibility in HMDM, favourable colloidal properties, small hydrodynamic size, high r_2 values, and desired relaxivity ratios for the enhanced contrast of T_2 - and T_2^* - weighted images. Overall, DHAA-Fe₃O₄ nanoparticles as described are estimated to be a promising candidate for negative contrast applications, such as MRI.

Indeed, we emphasized the use of primary human macrophages in our studies, as important immune competent cells^{188,207} representing a more relevant *in vitro* model system than transformed cell lines. However, due to the promising target capabilities of the iron oxide nanoparticles synthesized in Paper IV, we used cancer cell lines to evaluate their targeting efficiency.

In a physiological environment nanoparticles will be rapidly cover by proteins. The intrinsic properties of the nanomaterial will dictate the selectivity of the absorbed proteins on the surface, forming the so-called "biological identity" of the nanomaterials that will determine the interaction of the nanomaterials with living systems. The role and the effects of both, composition and dynamics of the protein corona in biological systems remain to be understood. It is known, that protein corona formation on the surface of nanomaterials is a dynamic process. However, the interaction that drives the proteins to assemble in biological scenarios is still not clear. Although several studies have attempted to address this issue, different conclusion could be drawn. This may be due to the different model used, including a variety of nanoparticles, biological media; experimental conditions, and techniques used. However, more systematic and quantitative characterization data of the protein corona could be obtained by simple analytical models to be able to provide comparative studies, to better understand the role of protein corona in the bio-nano interface.¹²⁰

Active targeting aims to distribute drugs to the site of interest while minimizing the exposure to other tissues. It is suggested that surface functionalization of nanomaterials could be designed to enhance targeting properties. Gogary *et al.* synthetized FA-PEG-PLGA vehicle nanoparticles able to passively and actively targeted folate receptors expressed on tumor cells. For that, various types of modified PLGA NPs were synthetized to evaluate the effect of PEG and FA in targeting capabilities of NPs. Uptake studies in HeLa cells showed that the FA conjugates enhanced the cellular uptake as compare with PEG-PLGA NPs. However, *in vivo* studies reporting FA-targeted PLGA NPs encapsulating quercetin for cancer targeting and therapy reveals that uptake is enhanced by take place through both passive and active mechanism.²⁰⁸

The biological identity of the nanomaterial will directly affect the interaction with biological systems. In this thesis, we synthetized two FA-functionalized iron oxide nanoparticles with different surface coatings; Fe₃O₄-PEG-FA and Fe₃O₄-SiO₂-FA and evaluated their biocompatibility and the importance of particle coating for targeted uptake in ovarian cancer cells overexpressing folate receptor. It is important to note, that overall, only target uptake was achieved only for Fe₃O₄-SiO₂-FA and not for the Fe₃O₄-PEG-FA and only in the presence of serum. Notably, we founded that both NPs are internalized in cells with or without silencing of FOLR1 receptor, suggesting that several uptake pathways may contribute to the internalization of nanoparticles. Our data suggested that the differences in targeting capability of the two nanoparticles could be related to differences in protein adsorption and/or agglomeration behaviour in the presence of serum. Although, PEGylation of the surface of nanoparticles is known to reduce protein adsorption and cell adhesion,¹²⁶ our studies indicated that Fe₃O₄-PEG-FA NPs adsorb higher amount of protein compared with Fe₃O₄-SiO₂-FA NPs. Based on these results, we speculated that the targeting ligand of the Fe_3O_4 -PEG-FA nanoparticles was not accessible for binding to the FR-a receptor on the ovarian cells due to the specific protein adsorption on the surface of the particles or that the ligand was trapped within PEG matrix and was not able to be recognized by the cells. Notably, the same studies were conducted on HeLa cells, which also express FA receptor. However, we could not find target specific uptake upon exposure of both nanoparticles, for that reason, we could suggested that the targeting capabilities of nanomaterials may not be only definite to a specific nanoparticle, but also cell type-specific. Finally, we highlight, that due to their targeting capability and in vitro excellent biocompatibility, Fe₃O₄-SiO₂-FA nanoparticles are promising materials for medical imaging.

The protein corona may alter the properties of the nanoparticle, thus need to be taken in consideration when study the biological interactions the nature of the nanoparticle surface is investigated.¹¹⁶ Walczyk *et al.* suggested that protein coronas rather than the nanomaterial surface are likely to be what the cell sees.¹³³ However, it is unclear whether cell could also recognize the surface of the nanomaterial. In some scenarios, cell receptors may have preferences for the bare surface of nanoparticle. Simberg *et al.* showed that despite protein corona formation of SPIONs surface could be available for recognition by macrophages.¹³⁹ To this end, the design future nanomedicines, it is

essential to understand the biological identity of the nanomaterials, especially for surface modified nanoparticles.

Notably, a recent study by Salvati *et al.* indicated that excessive binding of serum proteins may impair selective, ligand-mediated uptake of nanoparticles.¹³⁰ This effect may explain the results found for Fe₃O₄-PEG-FA, which appear to bind more proteins than Fe₃O₄-SiO₂-FA.

Nanoparticles are potentially useful for targeted drug delivery.¹ Recent studies support the effective use of active targeting of nanoparticles, not only in animal models, but also in human cancer patients. Davis et al. conducted the first in-human phase I clinical trial involving the systemic administration of siRNA to cancer patients using a targeted, nanoparticle delivery system. By using transferrin antigen to target cancer cells overexpressing the corresponding receptor, the authors demonstrated the dosedependent accumulation of targeted nanoparticles in human tumours, and their consequently effective specific gene inhibition by a RNAi mechanism of action.²⁰⁹ Furthermore, Hrkach et al. showed the beneficial use of a prostate-specific targeted polymeric nanoparticle containing the chemotherapeutic docetaxel for the treatment of patients with solid tumors.²¹⁰ In a recent study, Pridgen et al. demonstrated that nanoparticles targeted to the neonatal Fc receptor (FcRn), which mediates the transport of immunoglobulin G antibodies across epithelial barriers, are efficiently transported across the intestinal epithelium using both in vitro and in vivo models. The specificity of the in vivo targeting was studied using FcRn knockout mice. Their results indicated that the nanoparticle transport was higher for target nanoparticles.²¹¹

Interestingly, Caracciolo *et al.* showed that nanoparticles can acquire a targeting capability through the formation of a protein corona. Indeed, thus, lipid nanoparticles incubated in plasma were coated with vitronectin that promoted uptake in cancer cells expressing high levels of the vitronectin receptor.²¹²

Remarkably, the biological identity of nanomaterials "protein corona" could induce adverse effects in cells, such us inflammatory response. These possible effects should be taken in consideration for the future design of nanomedicines. Deng *et al.* demonstrated that the hard protein corona, formed on the surface of negative charge gold NPs induced unfolding of fibrinogen proteins, that were able to be recognized by cells though Mac 1 receptors, and induce activation of an inflammatory process.²¹³ Moreover, Dobrovolskaia *et al.* investigated the role of nanoparticle surface properties and incubation times on the protein coronas formation using human plasma. For that, a series of 30 nm citrate stabilized gold nanoparticles with various molecular weights PEG were used and compared with bare NPs. Interestingly, their results showed that protein composition was not affected by either incubation time or PEG length, but the total amount of proteins was governed by the molecular weight. The main conclusion of the study emphasized that corona formation did not predict hemocompatibility of NPs.²¹⁴

The goal of achieving therapeutic efficiency of siRNA in the target tissue still remains a challenge. siRNA requires targeted delivery to be able to interact with the RNA machinery within the cells by passing through a variety of barriers. Sahay *et al.* evaluated the delivery of siRNA using lipid nanoparticles made by complexation of siRNA with the cationic lipid C12-200. Notably, about 70% of the internalized siRNA underwent exocytosis from HeLa cells through way out of LNPs from late endosomes/lysosomes. This previously unrecognized pathway suggested that new approaches for retaining siRNA inside cells are needed.²¹⁵

If we are able to understand and control these phenomena, in the near future, we may be able to design specific nanomaterials with desired intrinsic properties to be able to dictate the protein corona formation and harness it for various bio-medical applications.

In conclusion, the application of nanotechnology in medicine is under development and nanomedicine is expected to provide new keys for unsettled clinical problems, and for that reason exhaustive toxicology studies should be performed in order to design smart and safe nanomaterials.⁷⁵ Our studies have emphasized the importance of:

- Using primary human cells as a model system to closely mimic the *in vivo* situation
- Considering the effects of low doses of nanoparticles on cells
- Applying system biology approaches in nanotoxicology research
- Evaluating the effects of the protein corona on nanomaterials and how different psychochemical proprieties such as size, surface charge, nanomaterial composition and the biological fluid determine its composition and targeting capabilities
- Evaluating the intrinsic properties and the biological identity of NPs and their impact on biocompatibility, uptake, biodistribution and final fate of materials.

Overall, our studies contribute to the development of new nanomaterials and their applications, which may facilitate clinical translation of nanomedicines. However, further studies should be directed to assess both the intrinsic properties and the biological identity of NPs and their impact on biocompatibility, uptake, biodistribution and *in vivo* fate.

6 CONCLUSIONS

The following specific conclusions can be drawn from the presented studies (Paper I-IV).

Paper I

- A library of hydroxyl functionalized bis-MPA dendrimers was effectively synthetized and characterized
- Hydroxyl functionalized bis-MPA dendrimers present excellent biocompatibility in primary human monocyte-derived macrophages and cell lines, whereas the cationic, but not the neutral PAMAMs exerted dose-dependent cytotoxicity in HMDM
- Bis-MPA dendrimers are degradable materials and their stability increases at low pH
- Due to their excellent biocompatibility, the hydroxyl functionalized bis-MPA dendrimers are promising materials for biomedical applications

Paper II

- Biocompatibility studies showed that PAMAM-NH₂, but not PAMAM-OH elicited dose- and time-dependent cytotoxicity in PBECs
- PAMAMs are localized in the lysosomes but not in the nucleus and appear to be internalized through an active mechanism
- RNA-Seq analyses revealed changes of gene expression upon exposure of PBEC to non-acute cytotoxic doses of PAMAM-NH₂ dendrimers
- Gene ontology categories that are induced, are indicative of genes affecting cell cycle and division genes
- Upstream regulator analysis indicated modulation of NF-kappaB and p53 related targets
- Low doses of PAMAM-NH₂ affected cell cycle in PBEC, by arresting cells in S-phase in an NF-kappaB dependent manner
- Whole transcriptome sequencing using RNA-Seq and computation tools, enabled to predict the uncover mechanisms of cellular responses of non-acutely cytotoxic doses of PAMAMs to PBEC

Paper III

- Successful synthesis of novel ultra-small superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles (USIRONs) was described by a simple one-step method
- USIRONs exhibit an average crystalline core size of 5.1 nm and superparamagnetic properties with a saturation magnetization value of 47 emu g^{-1}
- Phantom experiments revealed that the relaxivity value of USIRONs r_2/r_1 was 36.4, which is larger than clinically approved agents

- USIRONs are biocompatible materials as shown by the cytotoxicity studies in primary HMDM.
- USIRONs are promising candidates for future medical application such as negative contrast agents in MRI

Paper IV

- Effective synthesis of folic acid (FA)-conjugated iron oxide nanoparticles with two different intermediate coatings, inorganic silica (SiO₂) and organic polyethylene-glycol (PEG), using a variation of the well-known Stöber process was conducted
- Fe₃O₄-PEG-FA and Fe₃O₄-SiO₂-FA exhibit average sizes of 20 and 80 nm respectively
- Nanoparticles were shown to be non-cytotoxic to primary HMDM.
- Folate receptor alpha-mediated cellular uptake in ovarian cancer cell lines (SKOV-3) revealed that targeted uptake is only achieved for Fe_3O_4 -SiO₂-FA nanoparticles in the presence of serum
- Due to their biocompatibility and targeting abilities, Fe₃O₄-SiO₂-FA nanoparticles are promising candidates for biomedical applications

7 FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

Advances in nanotechnology have given rise to the rapid development of novel applications in biomedicine, such as diagnostics, imaging and targeted drug delivery. However, their potential in biological scenarios is still not completely understood.

Nanotoxicology is an interdisciplinary science, which requires the interaction between different disciplines, including material sciences and toxicological sciences. Nanotoxicology will provide us references and guidelines to build and design safe nanomaterials with specific properties, which will be available to achieve the current targets or specific medical approaches. The integration and combination of the different scientific competences will be essential for the successful design of future nanomedicines.

We aimed to provide new knowledge about the interaction between engineered nanoparticles and primary human macrophages and cancer cells, in order to improve the design of these nanomaterials for biomedical applications. Novel, multi-functional nanomaterials for simultaneous drug delivery and imaging, using different imaging modalities are under development. Advances in this area will provide new knowledge of diseases such as cancer. Therefore, it is important to establish model systems for the evaluation of biological interactions and potential toxicological effects of such materials.

Today, a proper risk assessment of nanomaterials is lacking. In order to map and characterise mechanistic pathways and molecular changes upon exposure to nanomaterials to human and health, additional approaches are required. Systems biology approaches combined with classical toxicity endpoint could help to identify in a global perspective, possible harmful effects of nanomaterials. Indeed comprehensive systematic investigations are essential to understand how nanoparticles (with specific physicochemical properties) interact with biological structures. Further studies in this area are needed.

Indeed, we still do not completely understand the internalization process of nanoparticle in cells, and which are the relevant parameters that dictate the uptake mechanism and final fate in biological systems. Probably, they are governed by the intrinsic and the biological identity of nanomaterials. However, the exact factors are still undefined. If we could provide answers to this important question, we may be able to understand the efficacy of targeted delivery *versus* passive targeting. The effects of the protein corona on the targeting capabilities and toxicity response still remain an issue. Future studies should address the impact of the surface-adsorbed biomolecules of nanomaterials in biological systems. If we are able to understand this phenomenon, we may be able to design nanomaterial to modulate the "protein corona" formation. This fact may help us to design and obtain selective delivery of nanomedicines with high specificity.

Finally, omics approaches could be used as a tool to identify perturbations of cellular functions in response to nanomaterials, including responses not detected by conventional screening assays. New predictive nanotoxicology approaches, based on systems biology approaches may facilitate the identification of novel end-points of toxicity.

In this thesis, we presented a system biology approach based on whole transcriptome sequencing coupled with computational methods to reveal key pathways involved in cellular responses to PAMAMs. Our studies demonstrated the feasibility of applying transcriptomics approaches to understand the effects of nanoparticles on cells. Therefore, to define and understand the possible hazard of nanomaterial, follow up studies using this methodology will be of particular interest. This is in line with the 21st Century Toxicology Paradigm, which emphasizes predictive, mechanism-based toxicology.

8 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This thesis was performed at the Nanosafety and Nanomedicine Laboratory, Division of Molecular Toxicology, Institute of Environmental Medicine, Karolinska Institutet. I would like to express my sincere and warmest gratitude to all the persons I have been interacting and working with. In particular I wish to thank the following people.

First of all I want to thank my main supervisor Professor Bengt Fadeel, and express my deep gratitude. You have always, day after day, been by my side, guiding me along this complex path of which I knew so little. You have been with me every step of the way and yet have given me the freedom to make my own journey. I would like to thank you for your interest and your dedication, and the passion you have shown in teaching me; for your constant support. You have been with me in my moments of doubt and have helped me through. So often we say that things would not have been possible without the help of others. Well, without you I could never have arrived at this day and this thesis would never have been written. I thank you for your enthusiasm. I am grateful for your help, your kindness, and your friendship.

Associate professor Andreas Nyström, my co-supervisor, for your constant support in life and research that helped me during all this time. For your excellent advice and for always finding a time to answer my questions, I am very grateful to you. Thank you so much for your warm encouragement.

My external mentors Professor Mamoun Muhammed, and Professor Maria Strømme thank you for showing an interest in my research and career and giving me your support and advice.

Special thanks to Sanjay Mathur, the Director of the Institute of Inorganic and Materials Chemistry at the University of Cologne, for our fruitful interactions and collaborations.

All our co-authors and collaborators: for their essential contributions, thanks to Marie Valerie, Maribel Montañez, Anders Hult, Michael Malkoch, Christian Smedman, Staffan Paulie, Lena Palmberg, Lisong Xiao, Fabian Kiessling, Marie Vahter, Stefan Stucky, Laura Wortmann, Laura Hermanns, Britta Andersson, Fei Ye, Susanne Gabrielsson, Muhammet S. Toprak, Tina Thurnherr, Sophie Laurent, Harald Krug, Annika Scheynius, Kai E. Wilkinson, Gulaim A. Seisenbaeva, Sven-Erik Dahlén, Vadim G. Kessler, and Wolfgang J. Parak, thank you for our nice and fruitful collaborations.

All my present and past co-workers and friends thank you, being wonderful colleagues and for contributing to an enjoyable and stimulating work environment. I would like to thank you for all the fantastic moments I spend with you. I feel very blessed to have everyone of you close to me. The present and past members of the Prof. Bengt Fadeel group; Hanna, for your warm help and wonderful support, Ramy for always being close to me, Teresa, Pekka, Olesja, for countless wonderful conversations, lovely help and friendly humor at the office Kunal, Malahat, for all your nice moments, talks and advices, Anda, Lucian, Yuning, thank you for your encouragements and for providing a really nice atmosphere and sense of humor. All my warmest thanks also to Beatrice, Ines, Katharina, Xiaoli, Táňa, Valentina, Stefanie, Jingwen, Giulio and Linda.

Consol, Fernando, Akihiro, Carmen, Erika, Annette, Rebecca, Andrea, and Astrid, thank you for your friendship and for make my everyday life special. I treasure your friendship.

The present and past members of the division of Biochemical Toxicology and other colleagues at IMM, thank you to, Linda for your lovely friendship, Roland Gräfstrom and Bengt Jernström for the nice discussions, all my sincere thanks also to Klara, Anneli, Kristian, Emma, Ulrika, Aram, Ilona, Åsa, Ian, Ralf, Ulla, Helen, Robert, Sandeep, Sabina, Ali, Kina, Daniel, Birce, Björn, Mia, Joakim, Milica, Annika and all the rest of the units of Biochemical and Molecular Toxicology for great lunches and laughs conversations.

I also would like to thank all my friends, at KI, KTH and outside for their support during these years and for all the fantastic moments we have been together, Marjon, Marc, Franziska, Saskia, Marina, Nyosha, Sebbe, Mei, Rós, Calle, Philipp, Katrin, you are amazing people. My friends, Jill, you are always there for me, Laura, Miriam, Katerina, Lech, Caroline, Karin, Burcu, Shiva, Alicia, Mao for being great friends all around.

Finally to my unconditional Catalan friends and wonderful family, you are all so important for me.

El meu germà, la meva mare i el meu pare, i per l'amor de la meva vida que sempre m'acompanya.

This work was funded, in part, by the Swedish Research Council, Swedish Governmental Agency for Innovation Systems, Swedish Cancer and Allergy Foundation, and the European Commission.

9 REFERENCES

- 1. Fadeel B, Garcia-Bennett AE. Better safe than sorry: Understanding the toxicological properties of inorganic nanoparticles manufactured for biomedical applications. *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews* 2010, 62:362-374.
- Duncan R, Gaspar R. Nanomedicine(s) under the Microscope. *Molecular Pharmaceutics* 2011, 8:2101-2141.
- 3. Nyström AM, Fadeel B. Safety assessment of nanomaterials: Implications for nanomedicine. *Journal of Controlled Release* 2012, 161:403-408.
- 4. Maynard AD, Aitken RJ, Butz T, Colvin V, Donaldson K, Oberdorster G, Philbert MA, Ryan J, Seaton A, Stone V, et al. Safe handling of nanotechnology. *Nature* 2006, 444:267-269.
- 5. Wagner V, Dullaart A, Bock A-K, Zweck A. The emerging nanomedicine landscape. *Nat Biotech* 2006, 24:1211-1217.
- 6. Nel A, Xia T, Madler L, Li N. Toxic potential of materials at the nanolevel. *Science* 2006, 311:622-627.
- Oberdörster G, Stone V, Donaldson K. Toxicology of nanoparticles: A historical perspective. Nanotoxicology 2007, 1:2-25.
- 8. Riehemann K, Schneider SW, Luger TA, Godin B, Ferrari M, Fuchs H. Nanomedicine-Challenge and Perspectives. *Angewandte Chemie-International Edition* 2009, 48:872-897.
- 9. Nyström AM, Wooley KL. The importance of chemistry in creating well-defined nanoscopic embedded therapeutics: devices capable of the dual functions of imaging and therapy. *Accounts of Chemical Research* 2011, 44:969-978.
- de Vries IJM, Lesterhuis WJ, Barentsz JO, Verdijk P, van Krieken JH, Boerman OC, Oyen WJG, Bonenkamp JJ, Boezeman JB, Adema GJ, et al. Magnetic resonance tracking of dendritic cells in melanoma patients for monitoring of cellular therapy. *Nature Biotechnology* 2005, 23:1407-1413.
- 11. Giuliani F, Di Maio M, Colucci G, Perrone F. Conventional chemotherapy of advanced pancreatic cancer. *Curr Drug Targets* 2012, 13:795-801.
- 12. Löhr JM, Haas SL, Bechstein WO, Bodoky G, Cwiertka K, Fischbach W, Folsch UR, Jager D, Osinsky D, Prausova J, et al. Cationic liposomal paclitaxel plus gemcitabine or gemcitabine alone in patients with advanced pancreatic cancer: a randomized controlled phase II trial. *Annals of Oncology* 2012, 23:1214-1222.
- 13. Pene F, Courtine E, Cariou A, Mira JP. Toward theragnostics. *Critical Care Medicine* 2009, 37:S50-S58.
- Huang Y, He S, Cao W, Cai K, Liang XJ. Biomedical nanomaterials for imaging-guided cancer therapy. *Nanoscale* 2012, 4:6135-6149.
- 15. Kobayashi H, Watanabe R, Choyke PL. Improving conventional enhanced permeability and retention (EPR) effects; what is the appropriate target? *Theranostics* 2013, 4:81-89.
- 16. Maeda H. Tumor-selective delivery of macromolecular drugs via the EPR effect: background and future prospects. *Bioconjugate Chemistry* 2010, 21:797-802.

- 17. Stirland DL, Nichols JW, Miura S, Bae YH. Mind the gap: A survey of how cancer drug carriers are susceptible to the gap between research and practice. *Journal of Controlled Release* 2013, 172:1045-1064.
- 18. Barreto JA, O'Malley W, Kubeil M, Graham B, Stephan H, Spiccia L. Nanomaterials: applications in cancer imaging and therapy. *Advanced Materials* 2011, 23:H18-H40.
- 19. Anderson SA, Glod J, Arbab AS, Noel M, Ashari P, Fine HA, Frank JA. Noninvasive MR imaging of magnetically labeled stem cells to directly identify neovasculature in a glioma model. *Blood* 2005, 105:420-425.
- 20. Weissleder R, Pittet MJ. Imaging in the era of molecular oncology. *Nature* 2008, 452:580-589.
- Ali Z, Abbasi AZ, Zhang F, Arosio P, Lascialfari A, Casula MF, Wenk A, Kreyling W, Plapper R, Seidel M, et al. Multifunctional Nanoparticles for Dual Imaging. *Analytical Chemistry* 2011, 83:2877-2882.
- 22. Park CW, Rhee YS, Vogt FG, Hayes D, Zwischenberger JB, DeLuca PP, Mansour HM. Advances in microscopy and complementary imaging techniques to assess the fate of drugs ex vivo in respiratory drug delivery An invited paper. *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews* 2012, 64:344-356.
- 23. Ma X, Zhao Y, Liang X-J. Theranostic nanoparticles engineered for clinic and pharmaceutics. *Accounts of Chemical Research* 2011, 44:1114-1122.
- 24. Fadeel B. Nanosafety: towards safer design of nanomedicines. *Journal of Internal Medicine* 2013, 274:578-580.
- 25. Buhleier E, Wehner W, VÖGtle F. "Cascade"- and "Nonskid-chain-like" syntheses of molecular cavity topologies. *Synthesis* 1978, 1978:155-158.
- 26. Tomalia DA, Baker H, Dewald J, Hall M, Kallos G, Martin S, Roeck J, Ryder J, Smith P. A New Class of Polymers: Starburst-Dendritic Macromolecules. *Polym J* 1985, 17:117-132.
- 27. Newkome GR, Yao Z, Baker GR, Gupta VK. Micelles. Part 1. Cascade molecules: a new approach to micelles. A [27]-arborol. *The Journal of Organic Chemistry* 1985, 50:2003-2004.
- 28. Hawker CJ, Frechet JMJ. Preparation of polymers with controlled molecular architecture. A new convergent approach to dendritic macromolecules. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 1990, 112:7638-7647.
- 29. Walter MV, Malkoch M. Simplifying the synthesis of dendrimers: accelerated approaches. *Chemical Society Reviews* 2012, 41:4593-4609.
- Carlmark A, Hawker C, Hult A, Malkoch M. New methodologies in the construction of dendritic materials. *Chemical Society Reviews* 2009, 38:352-362.
- 31. Rolland O, Turrin C-O, Caminade A-M, Majoral J-P. Dendrimers and nanomedicine: multivalency in action. *New Journal of Chemistry* 2009, 33:1809-1824.
- 32. Malkoch M, Malmström E, AM N. 6.4 Topology, dendrimers-properties and application Matyjaszewski K and Möller M (eds.) Polymer Science: A Comprehensive Reference, Amsterdam Elsevier BV 2010, 6:113-176.
- 33. Bussy C, Alexiou C, Petros RA, Nyström AM, Methven L, Kostarelos K. Chapter 16 -Therapeutic Applications. In: Fadeel B, Pietroiusti A, Shvedova AA, eds. *Adverse Effects of Engineered Nanomaterials*. Boston: Academic Press; 2012, 285-313.
- 34. Svenson S, Tomalia DA. Commentary Dendrimers in biomedical applications reflections on the field. *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews* 2005, 57:2106-2129.

- 35. Ihre H, Hult A, Söderlind E. Synthesis, characterization, and 1H NMR self-diffusion studies of dendritic aliphatic polyesters based on 2,2-bis(hydroxymethyl)propionic acid and 1,1,1-tris(hydroxyphenyl)ethane. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 1996, 118:6388-6395.
- 36. Lundberg P, Walter MV, Montanez MI, Hult D, Hult A, Nystrom A, Malkoch M. Linear dendritic polymeric amphiphiles with intrinsic biocompatibility: synthesis and characterization to fabrication of micelles and honeycomb membranes. *Polymer Chemistry* 2011, 2:394-402.
- Feliu N, Walter MV, Montanez MI, Kunzmann A, Hult A, Nyström A, Malkoch M, Fadeel B. Stability and biocompatibility of a library of polyester dendrimers in comparison to polyamidoamine dendrimers. *Biomaterials* 2012, 33:1970-1981.
- De Jesus OLP, Ihre HR, Gagne L, Frechet JMJ, Szoka FC. Polyester dendritic systems for drug delivery applications: In vitro and in vivo evaluation. *Bioconjugate Chemistry* 2002, 13:453-461.
- 39. Almutairi A, Rossin R, Shokeen M, Hagooly A, Ananth A, Capoccia B, Guillaudeu S, Abendschein D, Anderson CJ, Welch MJ, et al. Biodegradable dendritic positron-emitting nanoprobes for the noninvasive imaging of angiogenesis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 2009, 106:685-690.
- Padilla De Jesús OL, Ihre HR, Gagne L, Fréchet JMJ, Szoka FC. Polyester dendritic systems for drug delivery applications: in vitro and In vivo evaluation. *Bioconjugate Chemistry* 2002, 13:453-461.
- 41. van der Poll DG, Kieler-Ferguson HM, Floyd WC, Guillaudeu SJ, Jerger K, Szoka FC, Fréchet JM. Design, synthesis, and biological evaluation of a robust, biodegradable dendrimer. *Bioconjugate Chemistry* 2010, 21:764-773.
- 42. Wu Z, Zeng X, Zhang Y, Feliu N, Lundberg P, Fadeel B, Malkoch M, Nyström AM. Lineardendritic polymeric amphiphiles as carriers of doxorubicin—In vitro evaluation of biocompatibility and drug delivery. *Journal of Polymer Science Part A: Polymer Chemistry* 2012, 50:217-226.
- 43. Carlmark A, Malmström E, Malkoch M. Dendritic architectures based on bis-MPA: functional polymeric scaffolds for application-driven research. *Chemical Society Reviews* 2013, 42:5858-5879.
- 44. Dobrovolskaia MA, Patri A, Simak J, Hall J, Semberova J, de Paoli Lacerda S. Nanoparticle size and surface charge determine effects of PAMAM dendrimers on human platelets in vitro. *Mol Pharm* 2011.
- 45. Bronstein LM, Shifrina ZB. Dendrimers as encapsulating, stabilizing, or directing agents for inorganic nanoparticles. *Chemical Reviews* 2011, 111:5301-5344.
- 46. Majoros IJ, Myc A, Thomas T, Mehta CB, Baker JR. PAMAM dendrimer-based multifunctional conjugate for cancer therapy: synthesis, characterization, and functionality. *Biomacromolecules* 2006, 7:572-579.
- 47. Goonewardena SN, Kratz JD, Zong H, Desai AM, Tang S, Emery S, Baker Jr JR, Huang B. Design considerations for PAMAM dendrimer therapeutics. *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters* 2013, 23:2872-2875.
- 48. Kannan S, Dai H, Navath RS, Balakrishnan B, Jyoti A, Janisse J, Romero R, Kannan RM. Dendrimer-based postnatal therapy for neuroinflammation and cerebral palsy in a rabbit model. *Science Translational Medicine* 2012, 4:130ra146.
- 49. Longmire MR, Ogawa M, Choyke PL, Kobayashi H. Dendrimers as high relaxivity MR contrast agents. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Nanomedicine and Nanobiotechnology* 2014, 6:155-162.

- 50. Bryant LH, Brechbiel MW, Wu CC, Bulte JWM, Herynek V, Frank JA. Synthesis and relaxometry of high-generation (G = 5, 7, 9, and 10) PAMAM dendrimer-DOTA-gadolinium chelates. *Journal of Magnetic Resonance Imaging* 1999, 9:348-352.
- 51. Luo K, Liu G, She WC, Wang QY, Wang G, He B, Ai H, Gong QY, Song B, Gu ZW. Gadolinium-labeled peptide dendrimers with controlled structures as potential magnetic resonance imaging contrast agents. *Biomaterials* 2011, 32:7951-7960.
- 52. Peng C, Zheng LF, Chen Q, Shen MW, Guo R, Wang H, Cao XY, Zhang GX, Shi XY. PEGylated dendrimer-entrapped gold nanoparticles for in vivo blood pool and tumor imaging by computed tomography. *Biomaterials* 2012, 33:1107-1119.
- 53. Li KA, Wen SH, Larson AC, Shen MW, Zhang ZL, Chen Q, Shi XY, Zhang GX. Multifunctional dendrimer-based nanoparticles for in vivo MR/CT dual-modal molecular imaging of breast cancer. *International Journal of Nanomedicine* 2013, 8:2589-2600.
- 54. Wu XM, Burden-Gulley SM, Yu GP, Tan MQ, Lindner D, Brady-Kalnay SM, Lu ZR. Synthesis and evaluation of a peptide targeted small molecular Gd-DOTA monoamide conjugate for MR molecular imaging of prostate cancer. *Bioconjugate Chemistry* 2012, 23:1548-1556.
- 55. Colombo M, Carregal-Romero S, Casula MF, Gutierrez L, Morales MP, Bohm IB, Heverhagen JT, Prosperi D, Parak WJ. Biological applications of magnetic nanoparticles. *Chemical Society Reviews* 2012, 41:4306-4334.
- 56. Shubayev VI, Pisanic TR, Jin SH. Magnetic nanoparticles for theragnostics. *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews* 2009, 61:467-477.
- 57. Barick KC, Singh S, Bahadur D, Lawande MA, Patkar DP, Hassan PA. Carboxyl decorated Fe3O4 nanoparticles for MRI diagnosis and localized hyperthermia. *Journal of Colloid and Interface Science* 2014, 418:120-125.
- 58. Santhosh PB, Ulrih NP. Multifunctional superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles: Promising tools in cancer theranostics. *Cancer Letters* 2013, 336:8-17.
- 59. Schweiger C, Gil P, Parak W, Kissel T. MRI contrast enhancement potential of different superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticle (SPION) formulations. *Journal of Controlled Release* 2010, 148:E67-E68.
- 60. Na HB, Song IC, Hyeon T. Inorganic nanoparticles for MRI contrast agents. *Advanced Materials* 2009, 21:2133-2148.
- 61. Mahler GJ, Esch MB, Tako E, Southard TL, Archer SD, Glahn RP, Shuler ML. Oral exposure to polystyrene nanoparticles affects iron absorption. *Nature Nanotechnology* 2012, 7:264-271.
- 62. Malet-Martino M, Gilard W, Desmoulin F, Martino R. Fluorine nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy of human biofluids in the field of metabolic studies of anticancer and antifungal fluoropyrimidine drugs. *Clinica Chimica Acta* 2006, 366:61-73.
- 63. Du WJ, Nyström AM, Zhang L, Powell KT, Li YL, Cheng C, Wickline SA, Wooley KL. Amphiphilic hyperbranched fluoropolymers as nanoscopic (19)F magnetic resonance imaging agent assemblies. *Biomacromolecules* 2008, 9:2826-2833.
- 64. Nyström AM, Bartels JW, Du W, Wooley KL. Perfluorocarbon-loaded shell crosslinked knedellike nanoparticles: lessons regarding polymer mobility and self-assembly. *Journal of Polymer Science Part a-Polymer Chemistry* 2009, 47:1023-1037.
- 65. Chen H, Viel S, Ziarelli F, Peng L. 19F NMR: a valuable tool for studying biological events. *Chemical Society Reviews* 2013, 42:7971-7982.

- 66. Hofmann-Amtenbrink M, Hofmann H, Montet X. Superparamagnetic nanoparticles a tool for early diagnostics. *Swiss Medical Weekly* 2010, 140:7-13.
- 67. Xu C, Sun S. New forms of superparamagnetic nanoparticles for biomedical applications. *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews* 2013, 65:732-743.
- 68. Massart R. Preparation of aqueous magnetic liquids in alkaline and acidic media. *IEEE Transactions on Magnetics* 1981, 17:1247-1248.
- Kobayashi Y, Correa-Duarte MA, Liz-Marzán LM. Sol-gel processing of silica-coated gold nanoparticles. *Langmuir* 2001, 17:6375-6379.
- 70. Chen D, Xu R. Hydrothermal synthesis and characterization of nanocrystalline Fe3O4 powders. *Materials Research Bulletin* 1998, 33:1015-1021.
- Rosen JE, Chan L, Shieh DB, Gu FX. Iron oxide nanoparticles for targeted cancer imaging and diagnostics. *Nanomedicine* 2012, 8:275-290.
- 72. Alwi R, Telenkov S, Mandelis A, Leshuk T, Gu F, Oladepo S, Michaelian K. Silica-coated super paramagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles (SPION) as biocompatible contrast agent in biomedical photoacoustics. *Biomedical Optics Express* 2012, 3:2500-2509.
- 73. Boyer C, Whittaker MR, Bulmus V, Liu J, Davis TP. The design and utility of polymerstabilized iron-oxide nanoparticles for nanomedicine applications. *NPG Asia Materials* 2010, 2:23-30.
- Corot C, Robert P, Idée J-M, Port M. Recent advances in iron oxide nanocrystal technology for medical imaging. *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews* 2006, 58:1471-1504.
- 75. Tietze R, Lyer S, Durr S, Struffert T, Engelhorn T, Schwarz M, Eckert E, Goen T, Vasylyev S, Peukert W, et al. Efficient drug-delivery using magnetic nanoparticles biodistribution and therapeutic effects in tumour bearing rabbits. *Nanomedicine-Nanotechnology Biology and Medicine* 2013, 9:961-971.
- 76. Oberdörster G. Safety assessment for nanotechnology and nanomedicine: concepts of nanotoxicology. *Journal of Internal Medicine* 2010, 267:89-105.
- 77. Feliu N, Fadeel B. Nanotoxicology: no small matter. *Nanoscale* 2010, 2:2514-2520.
- 78. Dobrovolskaia MA, McNeil SE. Immunological properties of engineered nanomaterials. *Nature Nanotechnology* 2007, 2:469-478.
- 79. Kunzmann A, Andersson B, Thurnherr T, Krug H, Scheynius A, Fadeel B. Toxicology of engineered nanomaterials: Focus on biocompatibility, biodistribution and biodegradation. *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta-General Subjects* 2011, 1810:361-373.
- Wang X, Reece SP, Brown JM. Immunotoxicological impact of engineered nanomaterial exposure: mechanisms of immune cell modulation. *Toxicology Mechanisms and Methods* 2013, 23:168-177.
- 81. Bhattacharjee S, de Haan LH, Evers NM, Jiang X, Marcelis AT, Zuilhof H, Rietjens IM, Alink GM. Role of surface charge and oxidative stress in cytotoxicity of organic monolayer-coated silicon nanoparticles towards macrophage NR8383 cells. *Part Fibre Toxicol* 2010, 7:25.
- 82. Jones SW, Roberts RA, Robbins GR, Perry JL, Kai MP, Chen K, Bo T, Napier ME, Ting JPY, DeSimone JM, et al. Nanoparticle clearance is governed by Th1/Th2 immunity and strain background. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 2013, 123:3061-3073.
- 83. Elsabahy M, Wooley KL. Cytokines as biomarkers of nanoparticle immunotoxicity. *Chemical Society Reviews* 2013, 42:5552-5576.

- Bhabra G, Sood A, Fisher B, Cartwright L, Saunders M, Evans WH, Surprenant A, Lopez-Castejon G, Mann S, Davis SA, et al. Nanoparticles can cause DNA damage across a cellular barrier. *Nature Nanotechnology* 2009, 4:876-883.
- 85. Sood A, Salih S, Roh D, Lacharme-Lora L, Parry M, Hardiman B, Keehan R, Grummer R, Winterhager E, Gokhale PJ, et al. Signalling of DNA damage and cytokines across cell barriers exposed to nanoparticles depends on barrier thickness. *Nature Nanotechnology* 2011, 6:824-833.
- 86. Serag MF, Kaji N, Venturelli E, Okamoto Y, Terasaka K, Tokeshi M, Mizukami H, Braeckmans K, Bianco A, Baba Y. Functional platform for controlled subcellular distribution of carbon nanotubes. *ACS Nano* 2011, 5:9264-9270.
- 87. Truong L, Saili KS, Miller JM, Hutchison JE, Tanguay RL. Persistent adult zebrafish behavioral deficits results from acute embryonic exposure to gold nanoparticles. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part C: Toxicology & Pharmacology* 2012, 155:269-274.
- 88. Sang X, Zheng L, Sun Q, Li N, Cui Y, Hu R, Gao G, Cheng Z, Cheng J, Gui S, et al. The chronic spleen injury of mice following long-term exposure to titanium dioxide nanoparticles. *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research Part A* 2012, 100A:894-902.
- 89. Sun Q, Tan D, Zhou Q, Liu X, Cheng Z, Liu G, Zhu M, Sang X, Gui S, Cheng J, et al. Oxidative damage of lung and its protective mechanism in mice caused by long-term exposure to titanium dioxide nanoparticles. *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research Part A* 2012:n/a-n/a.
- Cui Y, Liu H, Ze Y, Zengli Z, Hu Y, Cheng Z, Cheng J, Hu R, Gao G, Wang L, et al. Gene Expression in liver injury caused by long-term exposure to titanium dioxide nanoparticles in mice. *Toxicological Sciences* 2012, 128:171-185.
- 91. Rivera Gil P, Jimenez de Aberasturi D, Wulf V, Pelaz B, del Pino P, Zhao Y, de la Fuente J, Ruiz de Larramendi I, Rojo T, Liang X-J, et al. The challenge to relate the physicochemical properties of colloidal nanoparticles to their cytotoxicity. *Accounts of Chemical Research* 2013, 46:743-749.
- 92. Fadeel B, Feliu N, Vogt C, Abdelmonem AM, Parak WJ. Bridge over troubled waters: understanding the synthetic and biological identities of engineered nanomaterials. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews-Nanomedicine and Nanobiotechnology* 2013, 5:111-129.
- 93. Zhu M, Nie G, Meng H, Xia T, Nel A, Zhao Y. Physicochemical properties determine nanomaterial cellular uptake, transport, and fate. *Accounts of Chemical Research* 2012, 46:622-631.
- 94. Oberdörster G, Oberdörster E, Oberdörster J. Nanotoxicology: An emerging discipline evolving from studies of ultrafine particles. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 2005, 113:823-839.
- 95. Zhu J, Liao L, Zhu L, Zhang P, Guo K, Kong J, Ji C, Liu B. Size-dependent cellular uptake efficiency, mechanism, and cytotoxicity of silica nanoparticles toward HeLa cells. *Talanta* 2013, 107:408-415.
- 96. Alexis F, Pridgen E, Molnar LK, Farokhzad OC. Factors affecting the clearance and biodistribution of polymeric nanoparticles. *Molecular Pharmaceutics* 2008, 5:505-515.
- 97. Gliga A, Skoglund S, Odnevall Wallinder I, Fadeel B, Karlsson H. Size-dependent cytotoxicity of silver nanoparticles in human lung cells: the role of cellular uptake, agglomeration and Ag release. *Particle and Fibre Toxicology* 2014, Feb [Epub ahead of print].

- Agarwal R, Singh V, Jurney P, Shi L, Sreenivasan SV, Roy K. Mammalian cells preferentially internalize hydrogel nanodiscs over nanorods and use shape-specific uptake mechanisms. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 2013, 110:17247-17252.
- 99. Nagai H, Okazaki Y, Chew SH, Misawa N, Yamashita Y, Akatsuka S, Ishihara T, Yamashita K, Yoshikawa Y, Yasui H, et al. Diameter and rigidity of multiwalled carbon nanotubes are critical factors in mesothelial injury and carcinogenesis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 2011, 108:E1330-1338.
- 100. Barua S, Yoo JW, Kolhar P, Wakankar A, Gokarn YR, Mitragotri S. Particle shape enhances specificity of antibody-displaying nanoparticles. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 2013, 110:3270-3275.
- 101. Frohlich E. The role of surface charge in cellular uptake and cytotoxicity of medical nanoparticles. *International Journal of Nanomedicine* 2012, 7:5577-5591.
- 102. Mukherjee SP, Lyng FM, Garcia A, Davoren M, Byrne HJ. Mechanistic studies of in vitro cytotoxicity of poly(amidoamine) dendrimers in mammalian cells. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology* 2010, 248:259-268.
- 103. Xia T, Kovochich M, Liong M, Meng H, Kabehie S, George S, Zink JI, Nel AE. Polyethyleneimine coating enhances the cellular uptake of mesoporous silica nanoparticles and allows safe delivery of siRNA and DNA constructs. *ACS Nano* 2009, 3:3273-3286.
- 104. Richards D, Ivanisevic A. Inorganic material coatings and their effect on cytotoxicity. *Chemical Society Reviews* 2012, 41:2052-2060.
- 105. Chatterjee N, Eom H-J, Choi J. A systems toxicology approach to the surface functionality control of graphene–cell interactions. *Biomaterials* 2014, 35:1109-1127.
- 106. Okuda-Shimazaki J, Takaku S, Kanehira K, Sonezaki S, Taniguchi A. Effects of titanium dioxide nanoparticle aggregate size on gene expression. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 2010, 11:2383-2392.
- 107. Wick P, Manser P, Limbach LK, Dettlaff-Weglikowska U, Krumeich F, Roth S, Stark WJ, Bruinink A. The degree and kind of agglomeration affect carbon nanotube cytotoxicity. *Toxicology Letters* 2007, 168:121-131.
- 108. Balasubramanian SK, Poh K-W, Ong C-N, Kreyling WG, Ong W-Y, Yu LE. The effect of primary particle size on biodistribution of inhaled gold nano-agglomerates. *Biomaterials* 2013, 34:5439-5452.
- Jiang W, Kim BYS, Rutka JT, Chan WCW. Nanoparticle-mediated cellular response is sizedependent. *Nature Nanotechnology* 2008, 3:145-150.
- 110. Kievit FM, Zhang MQ. Cancer nanotheranostics: improving imaging and therapy by targeted delivery across biological barriers. *Advanced Materials* 2011, 23:H217-H247.
- 111. Choi HS, Ashitate Y, Lee JH, Kim SH, Matsui A, Insin N, Bawendi MG, Semmler-Behnke M, Frangioni JV, Tsuda A. Rapid translocation of nanoparticles from the lung airspaces to the body. *Nat Biotechnol* 2010, 28:1300-1303.
- 112. Schleh C, Semmler-Behnke M, Lipka J, Wenk A, Hirn S, Schaffler M, Schmid G, Simon U, Kreyling WG. Size and surface charge of gold nanoparticles determine absorption across intestinal barriers and accumulation in secondary target organs after oral administration. *Nanotoxicology* 2012, 6:36-46.
- 113. Perry JL, Herlihy KP, Napier ME, Desimone JM. PRINT: a novel platform toward shape and size specific nanoparticle theranostics. *Accounts of Chemical Research* 2011, 44:990-998.

- 114. Kagan VE, Konduru NV, Feng WH, Allen BL, Conroy J, Volkov Y, Vlasova II, Belikova NA, Yanamala N, Kapralov A, et al. Carbon nanotubes degraded by neutrophil myeloperoxidase induce less pulmonary inflammation. *Nature Nanotechnology* 2010, 5:354-359.
- 115. Nel AE, Madler L, Velegol D, Xia T, Hoek EMV, Somasundaran P, Klaessig F, Castranova V, Thompson M. Understanding biophysicochemical interactions at the nano-bio interface. *Nature Materials* 2009, 8:543-557.
- 116. Cedervall T, Lynch I, Lindman S, Berggård T, Thulin E, Nilsson H, Dawson KA, Linse S. Understanding the nanoparticle-protein corona using methods to quantify exchange rates and qffinities of proteins for nanoparticles. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 2007, 104:2050-2055.
- 117. Lundqvist M, Stigler J, Elia G, Lynch I, Cedervall T, Dawson KA. Nanoparticle size and surface properties determine the protein corona with possible implications for biological impacts. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 2008, 105:14265-14270.
- 118. Casals E, Puntes VF. Inorganic nanoparticle biomolecular corona: formation, evolution and biological impact. *Nanomedicine* 2012, 7:1917-1930.
- 119. Pelaz B, Charron G, Pfeiffer C, Zhao Y, de la Fuente JM, Liang X-J, Parak WJ, del Pino P. Interfacing engineered nanoparticles with biological systems: anticipating adverse nano-bio interactions. *Small* 2013, 9:1573-1584.
- 120. Pino Pd, Pelaz B, Zhang Q, Maffre P, Nienhaus GU, Parak WJ. Protein corona formation around nanoparticles from the past to the future. *Materials Horizons* 2013, Oct [Epub ahead of print].
- Röcker C, Pötzl M, Zhang F, Parak WJ, Nienhaus GU. A quantitative fluorescence study of protein monolayer formation on colloidal nanoparticles. *Nature Nanotechnology* 2009, 4:577-580.
- Maffre P, Nienhaus K, Amin F, Parak WJ, Nienhaus GU. Characterization of Protein Adsorption onto FePt Nanoparticles Using Dual-Focus Fluorescence Correlation Spectroscopy. *Beilstein J. Nanotechnol.* 2011, 2:374–383.
- 123. Milani S, Bombelli FB, Pitek AS, Dawson KA, Radler J. Reversible versus irreversible binding of transferrin to polystyrene nanoparticles: soft and hard corona. *ACS Nano* 2012, 6:2532-2541.
- 124. Vroman L. Effect of adsorbed proteins on the pettability of hydrophilic and hydrophobic solids. *Nature* 1962, 196:476-477.
- 125. Mahmoudi M, Abdelmonem AM, Behzadi S, Clement JH, Dutz S, Ejtehadi MR, Hartmann R, Kantner K, Linne U, Maffre P, et al. Temperature: The "Ignored" Factor at the NanoBio Interface. *ACS Nano* 2013, 7:6555-6562.
- 126. Walkey CD, Olsen JB, Guo H, Emili A, Chan WC. Nanoparticle size and surface chemistry determine serum protein adsorption and macrophage uptake. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 2012, 134:2139-2147.
- 127. Lundqvist M, Stigler J, Cedervall T, Berggard T, Flanagan MB, Lynch I, Elia G, Dawson K. The evolution of the protein corona around nanoparticles: a test study. *ACS Nano* 2011, 5:7503-7509.
- 128. Liu W, Rose J, Plantevin S, Auffan M, Bottero JY, Vidaud C. Protein corona formation for nanomaterials and proteins of a similar size: hard or soft corona? *Nanoscale* 2013, 5:1658-1668.

- 129. Montenegro J-M, Grazu V, Sukhanova A, Agarwal S, de la Fuente JM, Nabiev I, Greiner A, Parak WJ. Controlled antibody/(bio-) conjugation of inorganic nanoparticles for targeted delivery. *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews* 2013, 65:677-688.
- 130. Salvati A, Pitek AS, Monopoli MP, Prapainop K, Bombelli FB, Hristov DR, Kelly PM, Åberg C, Mahon E, Dawson KA. Transferrin-functionalized nanoparticles lose their targeting capabilities when a biomolecule corona adsorbs on the surface. *Nature Nanotechnology* 2013, 8:137-143.
- 131. Aggarwal P, Hall JB, McLeland CB, Dobrovolskaia MA, McNeil SE. Nanoparticle interaction with plasma proteins as it relates to particle biodistribution, biocompatibility and therapeutic efficacy. *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews* 2009, 61:428-437.
- 132. Fadeel B. Clear and present danger? Engineered nanoparticles and the immune system. *Swiss Medical Weekly* 2012, 142:w13609.
- 133. Walczyk D, Bombelli FB, Monopoli MP, Lynch I, Dawson KA. What the Cell "Sees" in Bionanoscience. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 2010, 132:5761-5768.
- 134. Lynch I, Salvati A, Dawson KA. What does the cell see? *Nature Nanotechnology* 2009, 4:546-547.
- 135. Lipka M, Semmler-Behnke M, Sperling RA, Wenk A, Takenaka S, Schleh C, Kissel T, Parak WJ, Kreyling WG. Biodistribution of PEG-modified gold nanoparticles following intratracheal instillation and intravenous injection. *Biomaterials* 2010, 31:6574-6581.
- 136. Rodriguez PL, Harada T, Christian DA, Pantano DA, Tsai RK, Discher DE. Minimal "self" peptides that inhibit phagocytic clearance and enhance delivery of nanoparticles. *Science* 2013, 339:971-975.
- 137. Konduru NV, Tyurina YY, Feng WH, Basova LV, Belikova NA, Bayir H, Clark K, Rubin M, Stolz D, Vallhov H, et al. Phosphatidylserine targets single-walled carbon nanotubes to professional phagocytes in vitro and in vivo. *PLoS ONE* 2009, 4.
- 138. Kunjachan S, Pola R, Gremse F, Theek B, Ehling J, Moeckel D, Hermanns-Sachweh B, Pechar M, Ulbrich K, Hennink WE, et al. Passive versus Active Tumor Targeting Using RGD- and NGR-Modified Polymeric Nanomedicines. *Nano Letters* 2014.
- 139. Simberg D, Park JH, Karmali PP, Zhang WM, Merkulov S, McCrae K, Bhatia SN, Sailor M, Ruoslahti E. Differential proteomics analysis of the surface heterogeneity of dextran iron oxide nanoparticles and the implications for their in vivo clearance. *Biomaterials* 2009, 30:3926-3933.
- 140. Kunzmann A, Andersson B, Vogt C, Feliu N, Ye F, Gabrielsson S, Toprak MS, Buerki-Thurnherr T, Laurent S, Vahter M, et al. Efficient internalization of silica-coated iron oxide nanoparticles of different sizes by primary human macrophages and dendritic cells. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology* 2011, 253:81-93.
- 141. Karmali PP, Simberg D. Interactions of nanoparticles with plasma proteins: implication on clearance and toxicity of drug delivery systems. *Expert Opinion on Drug Delivery* 2011, 8:343-357.
- 142. Lartigue L, Wilhelm C, Servais J, Factor C, Dencausse A, Bacri JC, Luciani N, Gazeau F. Nanomagnetic sensing of blood plasma protein interactions with iron oxide nanoparticles: impact on macrophage uptake. *Acs Nano* 2012, 6:2665-2678.
- 143. Cheng ZL, Al Zaki A, Hui JZ, Muzykantov VR, Tsourkas A. Multifunctional nanoparticles: cost versus benefit of adding targeting and imaging capabilities. *Science* 2012, 338:903-910.
- 144. National Research Council. Toxicity Testing in the 21st Century: a vision and a strategy. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press, 2007.

- 145. Krewski D, Andersen ME, Mantus E, Zeise L. Toxicity Testing in the 21st Century: Implications for Human Health Risk Assessment. *Risk Analysis* 2009, 29:474-479.
- 146. Service RF. Calls Rise for More Research on Toxicology of Nanomaterials. *Science* 2005, 310:1609.
- 147. Mayr LM, Bojanic D. Novel trends in high-throughput screening. *Curr Opin Pharmacol* 2009, 9:580-588.
- 148. Puzyn T, Rasulev B, Gajewicz A, Hu XK, Dasari TP, Michalkova A, Hwang HM, Toropov A, Leszczynska D, Leszczynski J. Using nano-QSAR to predict the cytotoxicity of metal oxide nanoparticles. *Nature Nanotechnology* 2011, 6:175-178.
- 149. George S, Pokhrel S, Xia T, Gilbert B, Ji ZX, Schowalter M, Rosenauer A, Damoiseaux R, Bradley KA, Madler L, et al. Use of a rapid cytotoxicity screening approach to engineer a safer zinc oxide nanoparticle through iron doping. ACS Nano 2010, 4:15-29.
- 150. George S, Xia TA, Rallo R, Zhao Y, Ji ZX, Lin SJ, Wang X, Zhang HY, France B, Schoenfeld D, et al. Use of a high-throughput screening approach coupled with in vivo zebrafish embryo screening to develop hazard ranking for engineered nanomaterials. *ACS Nano* 2011, 5:1805-1817.
- 151. Xia XR, Monteiro-Riviere NA, Riviere JE. An index for characterization of nanomaterials in biological systems. *Nat Nanotechnol* 2010, 5:671-675.
- 152. Xia XR, Monteiro-Riviere NA, Mathur S, Song X, Xiao L, Oldenberg SJ, Fadeel B, Riviere JE. Mapping the surface adsorption forces of nanomaterials in biological systems. ACS Nano 2011, 5:9074-9081.
- 153. Debnath M, Prasad GKS, Bisen P. Omics Technology. In: *Molecular Diagnostics: Promises and Possibilities:* Springer Netherlands; 2010, 11-31.
- 154. Joyce AR, Palsson BO. The model organism as a system: integrating 'omics' data sets. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 2006, 7:198-210.
- 155. Jennings P, Limonciel A, Felice L, Leonard MO. An overview of transcriptional regulation in response to toxicological insult. *Archives of Toxicology* 2013, 87:49-72.
- 156. Sturla SJ, Boobis AR, FitzGerald RE, Hoeng J, Kavlock RJ, Schirmer K, Whelan M, Wilks MF, Peitsch MC. Systems toxicology: from basic research to risk sssessment. *Chemical Research in Toxicology* 2014.
- 157. Andersen M, McMullen P, Bhattacharya S. Toxicogenomics for transcription factor-governed molecular pathways: moving on to roles beyond classification and prediction. *Archives of Toxicology* 2013, 87:7-11.
- 158. Dix DJ, Houck KA, Martin MT, Richard AM, Setzer RW, Kavlock RJ. The ToxCast program for prioritizing toxicity testing of environmental chemicals. *Toxicology at Science* 2007, 95:5-12.
- 159. Savolainen K, Backman U, Brouwer D, Fadeel B, Fernandes T, Kuhlbusch T, Landsiedel R, Lynch I, L: P. Nanosafety in Europe 2015–2025:Towards safe and sustainable nanomaterials and nanotechnology innovations *Finnish Institute of Occupational Health* 2013.
- 160. Stone V, Pozzi-Mucelli S, Tran L, Aschberger K, Sabella S, Vogel U, Poland C, Balharry D, Fernandes T, Gottardo S, et al. ITS-NANO Prioritising nanosafety research to develop a stakeholder driven intelligent testing strategy. *Part Fibre Toxicol* 2014, 11:9.

- 161. Nel A, Xia T, Meng H, Wang X, Lin S, Ji Z, Zhang H. Nanomaterial Toxicity Testing in the 21st Century: use of a predictive toxicological approach and high-throughput screening. *Accounts of Chemical Research* 2012, 46:607-621.
- 162. Malkoch M, Malmström E, Hult A. Rapid and Efficient Synthesis of Aliphatic Ester Dendrons and Dendrimers. *Macromolecules* 2002, 35:8307-8314.
- 163. Krais A, Wortmann L, Hermanns L, Feliu N, Vahter M, Stucky S, Mathur S, Fadeel B. Targeted uptake of folic acid-functionalized iron oxide nanoparticles by ovarian cancer cells in the presence but not in the absence of serum. *Nanomedicine: Nanotechnology, Biology and Medicine* 2014, Jan 31 [Epub ahead of print].
- 164. Cho W-S, Duffin R, Thielbeer F, Bradley M, Megson IL, MacNee W, Poland CA, Tran CL, Donaldson K. Zeta potential and solubility to toxic ions as mechanisms of lung inflammation caused by metal/metal oxide nanoparticles. *Toxicological Sciences* 2012, 126:469-477.
- 165. Caminade A-M. Methods of characterization of dendrimers. In: *Dendrimers*: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd; 2011, 35-66.
- 166. Jaggi N, Vij DR. Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy In: Vij DR, ed. *Handbook of Applied Solid State Spectroscopy*: Springer US; 2006, 411-450.
- B. Akbari, M. Pirhadi Tavandashti, M. Zandrahimi. Particle size characterization of nanoparticles-a practical approach. *Iranian Journal of Materials Science & Engineering* 2011, 8:48-56.
- 168. Witasp E, Kupferschmidt N, Bengtsson L, Hultenby K, Smedman C, Paulie S, Garcia-Bennett AE, Fadeel B. Efficient internalization of mesoporous silica particles of different sizes by primary human macrophages without impairment of macrophage clearance of apoptotic or antibody-opsonized target cells. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology* 2009, 239:306-319.
- 169. Takeda K, Akira S. Toll-like receptors in innate immunity. *International Immunology* 2005, 17:1-14.
- 170. Strandberg K, Palmberg L, Larsson K. Effect of formoterol and salmeterol on IL-6 and IL-8 release in airway epithelial cells. *Respiratory Medicine* 2007, 101:1132-1139.
- 171. Scherer WF, Syverton JT, Gey GO. Studies on the propagation in vitro of poliomyelitis viruses. IV. Viral multiplication in a stable strain of human malignant epithelial cells (strain HeLa) derived from an epidermoid carcinoma of the cervix. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 1953, 97:695-710.
- 172. Tsuchiya S, Yamabe M, Yamaguchi Y, Kobayashi Y, Konno T, Tada K. Establishment and characterization of a human acute monocytic leukemia cell line (THP-1). *International Journal of Cancer* 1980, 26:171-176.
- 173. Giard DJ, Aaronson SA, Todaro GJ, Arnstein P, Kersey JH, Dosik H, Parks WP. In vitro cultivation of human tumors: establishment of cell lines derived from a series of solid tumors. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 1973, 51:1417-1423.
- 174. Vallhov H, Qin J, Johansson SM, Ahlborg N, Muhammed MA, Scheynius A, Gabrielsson S. The importance of an endotoxin-free environment during the production of nanoparticles used in medical applications. *Nano Lett* 2006, 6:1682-1686.
- 175. Neun BW, Dobrovolskaia MA. Detection and quantitative evaluation of endotoxin contamination in nanoparticle formulations by LAL-based assays. In: *Characterization Of Nanoparticles Intended For Drug Delivery*. Vol. 697; 2011, 121-130.

- 176. Dobrovolskaia MA, Neun BW, Clogston JD, Ding H, Ljubimova J, McNeil SE. Ambiguities in applying traditional Limulus Amebocyte Lysate tests to quantify endotoxin in nanoparticle formulations. *Nanomedicine* 2010, 5:555-562.
- 177. Mosmann T. Rapid colorimetric assay for cellular growth and survival: Application to proliferation and cytotoxicity assays. *Journal of Immunological Methods* 1983, 65:55-63.
- 178. Fields RD, Lancaster MV. Antibiotic and cytotoxic drug susceptibility assays using resazurin and poising agents. 1996. Available at: https://www.google.com/patents/US5501959.
- 179. Moravec R. Total cell quantitation using the CytoTox 96[™] non-radioactive cytotoxicity assay *Promega Notes* 1994, 45: 11–12.
- 180. Alkilany AM, Murphy CJ. Toxicity and cellular uptake of gold nanoparticles: what we have learned so far? *Journal of Nanoparticle Research* 2010, 12:2313-2333.
- 181. Shapero K, Fenaroli F, Lynch I, Cottell DC, Salvati A, Dawson KA. Time and space resolved uptake study of silica nanoparticles by human cells. *Molecular Biosystems* 2011, 7:371-378.
- 182. Vranic S, Boggetto N, Contremoulins V, Mornet S, Reinhardt N, Marano F, Baeza-Squiban A, Boland S. Deciphering the mechanisms of cellular uptake of engineered nanoparticles by accurate evaluation of internalization using imaging flow cytometry. *Particle and Fibre Toxicology* 2013, 10.
- 183. Monopoli MP, Pitek AS, Lynch I, Dawson KA. Formation and characterization of the nanoparticle–protein corona In: *Nanomaterial Interfaces in Biology* Vol. 1025; 2013, 137-155.
- 184. Laurent S, Forge D, Port M, Roch A, Robic C, Vander Elst L, Muller RN. Magnetic iron oxide nanoparticles: synthesis, stabilization, vectorization, physicochemical characterizations, and biological applications. *Chemical Reviews* 2008, 108:2064.
- 185. Hu FQ, Wei L, Zhou Z, Ran YL, Li Z, Gao MY. Preparation of biocompatible magnetite nanocrystals for invivo magnetic resonance detection of cancer. *Advanced Materials* 2006, 18:2553-2556.
- 186. Rivera Gil P, Oberdörster G, Elder A, Puntes V, Parak WJ. Correlating physico-chemical with toxicological properties of nanoparticles: the present and the future. *ACSNano* 2010, 4:5527-5531.
- 187. Roy R, Kumar S, Tripathi A, Das M, Dwivedi PD. Interactive threats of nanoparticles to the biological system. *Immunology Letters* 2014, 158:79-87.
- 188. Sieweke MH, Allen JE. Beyond stem cells: self-renewal of differentiated macrophages. *Science* 2013, 342.
- 189. Øvrevik J, Refsnes M, Holme JA, Schwarze PE, Låg M. Mechanisms of chemokine responses by polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in bronchial epithelial cells: Sensitization through toll-like receptor-3 priming. *Toxicology Letters*.
- 190. Lambrecht BN, Hammad H. The airway epithelium in asthma. *Nature Medicine* 2012, 18:684-692.
- 191. Juncadella IJ, Kadl A, Sharma AK, Shim YM, Hochreiter-Hufford A, Borish L, Ravichandran KS. Apoptotic cell clearance by bronchial epithelial cells critically influences airway inflammation. *Nature* 2013, 493:547-551.
- Lee CC, MacKay JA, Frechet JMJ, Szoka FC. Designing dendrimers for biological applications. *Nature Biotechnology* 2005, 23:1517-1526.

- 193. Petros RA, DeSimone JM. Strategies in the design of nanoparticles for therapeutic applications. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery* 2010, 9:615-627.
- 194. Goldberg D, Ghandehari H, Swaan P. Cellular Entry of G3.5 Poly (amido amine) Dendrimers by Clathrin- and Dynamin-Dependent Endocytosis Promotes Tight Junctional Opening in Intestinal Epithelia. *Pharmaceutical Research* 2010, 27:1547-1557.
- 195. Demaurex N. pH Homeostasis of cellular organelles. News Physiol Sci 2002, 17:1-5.
- 196. Li R, Wang X, Ji Z, Sun B, Zhang H, Chang CH, Lin S, Meng H, Liao Y-P, Wang M, et al. Surface charge and cellular processing of covalently functionalized multiwall carbon nanotubes determine pulmonary toxicity. *ACS Nano* 2013, 7:2352-2368.
- 197. Li R, Ji Z, Chang CH, Dunphy DR, Cai X, Meng H, Zhang H, Sun B, Wang X, Dong J, et al. Surface interactions with compartmentalized cellular phosphates explain rare earth oxide nanoparticle hazard and provide opportunities for safer design. *ACS Nano* 2014.
- 198. Jones CF, Campbell RA, Brooks AE, Assemi S, Tadjiki S, Thiagarajan G, Mulcock C, Weyrich AS, Brooks BD, Ghandehari H, et al. Cationic PAMAM dendrimers aggressively initiate blood clot formation. ACS Nano 2012, 6:9900-9910.
- 199. Thiagarajan G, Greish K, Ghandehari H. Charge affects the oral toxicity of poly(amidoamine) dendrimers. *The European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics m Biopharm* 2013, 84:330-334.
- 200. Kong L, Tuomela S, Hahne L, Ahlfors H, Yli-Harja O, Fadeel B, Lahesmaa R, Autio R. NanoMiner integrative human transcriptomics data resource for nanoparticle research. *PLoS ONE* 2013, 8:e68414.
- Li X, He Q, Shi J. Global gene expression analysis of cellular death mechanisms induced by mesoporous silica nanoparticle-based drug delivery system. ACSNano 2014.
- 202. Teow HM, Zhou Z, Najlah M, Yusof SR, Abbott NJ, D'Emanuele A. Delivery of paclitaxel across cellular barriers using a dendrimer-based nanocarrier. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics* 2013, 441:701-711.
- Kim JA, Åberg C, de Cárcer G, Malumbres M, Salvati A, Dawson KA. Low dose of aminomodified nanoparticles induces cell cycle arrest. ACS Nano 2013, 7:7483-7494.
- 204. Waters MD, Fostel JM. Toxicogenomics and systems toxicology: Aims and prospects. *Nature Reviews Genetics* 2004, 5:936-948.
- 205. Waters MD, Olden K, Tennant RW. Toxicogenomic approach for assessing toxicant-related disease. *Mutation Research-Reviews in Mutation Research* 2003, 544:415-424.
- Qiao RR, Yang CH, Gao MY. Superparamagnetic iron oxide nanoparticles: from preparations to in vivo MRI applications (vol 19, pg 6274, 2009). *Journal of Materials Chemistry* 2009, 19:9286-9286.
- 207. Locati M, Mantovani A, Sica A. Chapter Six Macrophage Activation and Polarization as an Adaptive Component of Innate Immunity. In: Kenneth MM, Miriam M, eds. Advances in Immunology. Vol. Volume 120: Academic Press; 2013, 163-184.
- 208. El-Gogary RI, Rubio N, Wang JT-W, Al-Jamal WT, Bourgognon M, Kafa H, Naeem M, Klippstein R, Abbate V, Leroux F, et al. Polyethylene slycol conjugated polymeric nanocapsules for targeted delivery of quercetin to folate-expressing cancer cells in vitro and in vivo. ACS Nano 2014.

- 209. Davis ME, Zuckerman JE, Choi CHJ, Seligson D, Tolcher A, Alabi CA, Yen Y, Heidel JD, Ribas A. Evidence of RNAi in humans from systemically administered siRNA via targeted nanoparticles. *Nature* 2010, 464:1067-U1140.
- 210. Hrkach J, Von Hoff D, Ali MM, Andrianova E, Auer J, Campbell T, De Witt D, Figa M, Figueiredo M, Horhota A, et al. Preclinical development and clinical translation of a PSMA-targeted docetaxel nanoparticle with a differentiated pharmacological profile. *Science Translational Medicine* 2012, 4.
- 211. Pridgen EM, Alexis F, Kuo TT, Levy-Nissenbaum E, Karnik R, Blumberg RS, Langer R, Farokhzad OC. Transepithelial transport of Fc-targeted nanoparticles by the neonatal Fc teceptor for oral delivery. *Science Translational Medicine* 2013, 5:213ra167.
- 212. Caracciolo G, Cardarelli F, Pozzi D, Salomone F, Maccari G, Bardi G, Capriotti AL, Cavaliere C, Papi M, Lagana A. Selective targeting capability acquired with a protein corona adsorbed on the surface of 1,2-Dioleoyl-3-trimethylammonium propane/DNA nanoparticles. *Acs Applied Materials & Interfaces* 2013, 5:13171-13179.
- Deng ZJ, Liang M, Monteiro M, Toth I, Minchin RF. Nanoparticle-induced unfolding of fibrinogen promotes Mac-1 receptor activation and inflammation. *Nature Nanotechnology* 2011, 6:39-44.
- 214. Dobrovolskaia MA, Neun BW, Man S, Ye X, Hansen M, Patri AK, Crist RM, McNeil SE. Protein corona composition does not accurately predict hematocompatibility of colloidal gold nanoparticles. *Nanomedicine: Nanotechnology, Biology and Medicine* 2014, Feb 7 [Epub ahead of print].
- 215. Sahay G, Querbes W, Alabi C, Eltoukhy A, Sarkar S, Zurenko C, Karagiannis E, Love K, Chen DL, Zoncu R, et al. Efficiency of siRNA delivery by lipid nanoparticles is limited by endocytic recycling. *Nature Biotechnology* 2013, 31:653-U119.